
Appropriations Committee 

Richard Corcoran 
Speaker 

Wednesday, March 8, 2017 
3:30 PM- 6:00 PM 
212 Knott Building 

Meeting Packet 

Carlos Trujillo 
Chair 



The Florida House of Representatives 

Richard Corcoran 
Speaker 

I. Call to Order/Roll Call 

Appropriations Committee 

AGENDA 
Wednesday, March 8, 2017 

212 Knott Building 
3:30 PM - 6:00 PM 

II. Opening Remarks by Chair Trujillo 

Ill . Consideration of the following bill: 

Carlos Trujillo 
Chair 

HB 7007 State Group Insurance Program by Health & Human Services Committee, 
Brodeur 
HB 7021 Local Government Ethics Reform by Public Integrity & Ethics Committee, 
Metz 
HB 7023 Trust Funds/Creation/Local Government Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund by 
Public Integrity & Ethics Committee, Yarborough 

IV. Presentation and Discussion of Higher Education Funding and Direct Support 
Organizations 

V. Subcommittee Chairs Report on Budget Exercise 

VI. Closing Remarks and Adjournment 

22 1 The Capitol, 402 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1 300 
(850) 717-48 10 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 7007 PCB HHS 17-01 State Group Insurance Program 
SPONSOR(S): Health & Human Services Committee, Brodeur 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 900 

REFERENCE ACTION 

Orig. Comm .: Health & Human Services Committee 11 Y, 6 N 

1) Appropriations Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Poche Calamas 

Delaney~~'Q Leznoff 

The State Group Insurance Program (program), administered by the Department of Management Services (OMS), is an 
optional benefit for employees that includes health, life, dental , vision, disability, and other supplemental insurance 
benefits . The program offers employees a choice among a health maintenance organization (HMO) plan, preferred 
provider plan (PPO) plan, and a high-deductible health plan (HDHP) with a health saving account (HSA). However, only 
one benefit level is offered for each plan type. Additionally, the employee's premium for the HMO and PPO are the same, 
even though the HMO provides greater benefits. 

HB 7007 adds new products and services to the program by giving OMS broad authority to contract for a wide variety of 
additional products and services. Employees will be able to purchase new products as optional benefits . OMS is directed 
to contract with at least one entity that provides comprehensive pricing and inclusive services for surgery and other types 
of medical procedures. The contract requires cost savings to the program, which will be shared by the state and the 
enrollee. 

Beginning in 2018, OMS is directed to contract with at least one entity that provides online health care price and quality 
information, including the average price paid for health care services and providers by county. The contract requires the 
entity to allow enrollees to shop for health care using the information provided to select higher quality, lower cost services 
and providers. The contract also requires the entity to identify any savings realized by the enrollee, and share those 
savings with the enrollee 

Beginning in the 2020 plan year, the bill provides that state employees will have health plan choices at four different 
benefit levels. If the state's contribution towards the premium is more than the cost of the plan selected by the employee, 
then the employee may use the remainder to : 

• Fund a flexible spending arrangement or a health savings account. 
• Purchase additional benefits offered through the state group insurance program . 
• Increase the employee's salary. 

The bill directs OMS to hire an independent benefits consultant {IBC). The IBC will assist OMS in developing a plan for 
the implementation of the new benefit levels in the program . The plan shall be submitted to the Governor, the President 
of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives no later than January 1, 2019. The IBC will also provide 
ongoing assessments and analysis for the program. 

The bill directs OMS to recommend employee contribution rates for standard plans and high deductible health plans for 
the 2018 plan year reflecting the actual benefit difference between the HMO and the PPO plans for both self-insured and 
fully insured products. The proposed enrollee premium rates for the 2018 plan year must be submitted to the Legislative 
Budget Commission (LBC) for review and approval. If the LBC does not approve the proposed rates , the rates provided 
in the 2017-18 General Appropriations Act will apply. 

The bill provides $151,216 in recurring trust fund and $507,546 in nonrecurring trust fund authority to the Department of 
Management Services, and 2 full-time equivalent positions to implement the administrative provisions of the act. The 
provisions of the bill are expected to have a positive, but indeterminate, fiscal impact on the state. See fiscal comments. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h?OO?.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

State Group Insurance Program 

Overview 

The State Group Insurance Program (state program) is created by s. 110.123, F.S. , and is 
administered by the Division of State Group Insurance (DSGI) within the Department of Management 
Services (OMS or department). 

The state program is an optional benefit for all state employees including all state agencies, state 
universities, the court system, and the Legislature. The program includes health, life, dental, vision, 
disability, and other supplemental insurance benefits. 

The health insurance benefit for active employees has premium rates for single, spouse program 1, or 
family coverage regardless of plan selection . The state contributed approximately 92% toward the total 
annual premium for active employees for a total of $1 .80 billion out of total premium of $1 .95 billion for 
active employees during FY 2016-172

. Retirees and COBRA participants contributed an additional 
$233.3 million in premiums, with $158.9 million more in other revenue for a total of $2.34 billion in total 
revenues. 3 

Cafeteria Plans 

A cafeteria plan is a plan that offers flexible benefits under Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code. 
Employees choose from a "menu" of benefits. The plan can provide a number of selections, including 
medical, accident, disability, vision , dental and group term life insurance. It can reimburse actual 
medical expenses or pay children's day care expenses. 

A cafeteria plan reduces both the employer's and employee's tax burden. Contributions by the 
employer are not subject to the employer social security contribution. Contributions made by the 
employee are not subject to federal income or social security taxes. 

The employer chooses the range of benefits it wishes to offer in a cafeteria plan. The plan can be a 
simple premium-only plan where only health insurance is offered. Full flex plans, which offer a wide 
variety of benefits and choices, are more often offered by large employers and allow for more 
consumer-directed consumption of benefits. In some full flex plans, the employee is offered the choice 
between receiving additional compensation in lieu of benefits. 

The state program qualifies as a cafeteria plan4 even though it offers relatively narrow health plan 
options compared to other cafeteria plans. 

1 The Spouse Program provides discounted rates for family coverage when both spouses work for the state. 
2 Florida Legislature, Office of Economic and Demographic Research, Self-Insurance Estimating Conference, State Employees' Group 
Health Self-Insurance Trust Fund- Report on the Financial Outlook for Fiscal Years Ending June 30, 2017 through June 30, 2022, 
adopted December 9, 2016, page 6, available at http://edr.state.fl .us/Contentlconferences/healthinsurance/HealthlnsuranceOutlook.pdf 
3 ld . 
4 26 USC sec. 125 requires that a cafeteria plan allow its members to choose between two or more benefits "consisting of cash and 
qualified benefits. " The proposed regulations define "cash" to include a "salary reduction arrangement" whereby salary is deducted 
pre-tax to pay the employee's share of the insurance premium. Since the state program allows a "salary reduction arrangement", the 
program qualifies as a cafeteria plan. 26 C.F .R. ss. 1.125-1 , et seq . 
STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



Health Plan Options 

The program provides limited options for employees to choose as their health plan. The preferred 
provider organization (PPO) plan is the statewide, self-insured health plan administered by Florida 
Blue, whose current contract is for the 2015 through 2018 plan years. The administrator is responsible 
for processing health claims, providing access to a Preferred Provider Care Network, and managing 
customer service, utilization review, and case management functions. The standard health 
maintenance organization (HMO) plan is an insurance arrangement in which the state has contracted 
with multiple statewide and regional HMOs5

. 

Prior to the 2011 plan year, the participating HMOs were fully insured; in other words, the HMOs 
assumed all financial risk for the covered benefits. During the 2010 session, the Legislature enacted s. 
110.12302, F.S., which directed OMS to require costing options for both fully insured and self-insured 
plan designs as part of the department's solicitation for HMO contracts for the 2012 plan year and 
beyond. The department included these costing options in its Invitation to Negotiate6 to HMOs for 
contracts for plans years beginning January 1, 2012. The department entered into contracts for the 
2012 and 2013 plan years with two HMOs with a fully insured plan design and four with a self-insured 
plan design. The contracts with the HMOs had been renewed for the 2015 plan year.7 

Additionally, the program offers two high-deductible health plans (HDHP8
) with health savings accounts 

(HSAs)9
. The Health Investor PPO Plan is the statewide HDHP with an integrated HSA. It is also 

administered by Florida Blue. The Health Investor HMO Plan is an HDHP with an integrated HSA in 
which the state has contracted with multiple state and regional HMOs. Both have an individual 
deductible of $1 ,300 for individual and $2,600 for family for network providers. 10 The state makes a 
$500 per year contribution to the HSA for single coverage and a $1 ,000 per year contribution for family 
coverage. The employee may make additional annual contributions 11 to a limit of $3,400 for single 
coverage and $6,750 for family coverage. Both the employer and employee contributions are not 
subject to federal income tax on the employee's income. Unused funds roll over automatically every 
year. An HSA is owned by the employee and is portable. 

The following charts illustrate the benefit design of each of the plan choices. 

5 The HMOs include Aetna, AvMed , Capital Health Plan, Florida Health Care Plans and UnitedHealthcare. 
6 1TN NO.: OMS 10/11-011 
7 After extending the existing HMO contracts for the 2016 and 2017 plan years, OMS is currently procuring HMOs for the next contract 
period and expects to complete the procurement process and award contracts to the HMOs during or after the 2017 Regular Legislative 
Session. 
8 High-deductible health plans with linked HSAs are also call consumer-directed health plans (COHP) because costs of health care are 
more visible to the enrollee. 
9 26 USC sec. 223; To qualify as a high-deductible plan, the annual deductible must be at least $1 ,300 for single plans and $2 ,600 for 
family coverage, but annual out-of-pocket expenses cannot exceed $6,550 for individual and $13,100 for family coverage . These 
amounts are adjusted annually by the IRS. 
10 Internal Revenue Service, Revenue Procedure 2016-28, April 29, 2016 (setting contribution limits for 2017 calendar year) available 
at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/rp-16-28.pdf (last viewed February 10, 2017). 
11 ld. , The IRS annually sets the contribution limit as adjusted by inflation. 
STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



Deductible 

Primary Car·e 

Specialist 

Urgent Care 

Emergency 
Room 

Hospital Stay 

Gener-ic I 
Preferred I 
Non-Preferred 
Prescriptions 

Out-of-Pocket 
Maximum 

Deductible 

Primary Care 

Specialist 

Urgent Care 

Emergency 
Room 

Hospital Stay 

Generic I 
Preferred I 
Non-PreferTed 
Prescriptions 

Out-of-Pocket 
Maximum 

STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/6/2017 

HMO 
Standard 

Network Only 

None 

$20 copayment 

$40 copayment 

$25 copayment 

$100 copayment 

$250 copayment 

$71 $30 I $50 
Retail 

$141 $60 I $100 
Mail Order 

$1,500 1 $3,ooo 
Single I Family 

Network 

$1,300 1 $2,600 
Single I Family 

Network 

$250 1 $500 
Single I Family 

$15 copayment 

$25 copayment 

$25 copayment 

$100 copayment 

20% after 
$250 copayment 

$71 $30 I $50 
Retail 

$14 I $60 I $100 
Mail Order 

PPO 
Standard 

Out-of-Network 

$750 1 $1,500 
Single I Family 

40% of out-of-network 
allowance plus the amount 
between the charge and the 

allowance 

40% after $500 copayment 
plus the amount between 

the charge and the 
allowance 

Pay in full, file claim 

$2,500 I $5,000 (coinsurance only) 
Single I Family 

PPOand HMO 
Health Investor 

Out-of-Network 
(PPO Only) 

$2,500 1 $5,ooo 
Single I Family 

After meeting deductible, 40% of 
out-of-network allowance plus the 
amount between the charge and 

the allowance 

After meeting deductible, 20% of After meeting deductible, 20% of 
network allowed amount out-of-network allowance 

After meeting deductible , 
30% I 30% I 50% 

Retail and Mail Order 

After meeting deductible, 40% 
after $1,000 copayment plus the 
amount between the charge and 

the allowance 

Pay in full , file claim 

$3,000 I $6,000 (coinsurance only) $7,500 I $15,000 (coinsurance only) 
Single I Family Single I Family 

PAGE: 4 



Flexible Spending Accounts 

Currently, the state program offers flexible spending accounts (FSAs)12 as an optional benefit for 
employees. The FSA is funded though pre-tax payroll deductions from the employee's salary13

. The 
funds can be used to pay for medical expenses that are not covered by the employees' health plan. 
Prior to 2013, there was no limit on the contribution to a FSA; however, it is now limited to $2,60014 and 
subsequently adjusted for inflation. Unlike a HSA, a FSA is a "use it or lose it" arrangement. 15 If the 
employee does not annually use the contributions to the FSA, the contributions are forfeited. 

Health Reimbursement Arrangements 

Health reimbursement arrangements (HRAs) are defined contribution benefits established by an 
employer for their employees. Each year, an employer determines a specified amount, or a defined 
contribution benefit, of pre-tax dollars to assist employees with medical expenses. The employer can 
determine minimum and maximum contribution amounts; there are no federal limits. Typically 
associated with an HDHP, an HRA is entirely funded by the employer and provides tax-free 
reimbursements to employees for medical expenses. 16 Unlike a FSA, an HRA is not a "use it or lose it" 
arrangement, but the employer may cap the rollover amount. The state program does not currently 
offer HRAs. 

The following chart shows the distinctions among FSAs, HSAs, and HRAs: 

Up to $500 (federal law) 

IRC 213(d) expenses;17 

Employee, employer, and 
other individuals 
Cash contributions to bank 
account owned by 
employee 

Single- $3,400 
Family- $6,750 
Over 55- additional $1,000 
for si 
Yes 

IRC 213(d) expenses 

Yes 
Minimum deductible: 

Single- $1,300 
Family- $2,600 

Max out-of-pocket: 
Single- $6,550 
Fam -$1 100 

Employer 

Employer pays up to 
promised amount 

Set by employer 

Yes, as determined by 
em 
Post-tax health insurance 
premiums and IRC 213(d) 

No 

12 Sec. 125 I.R.C. ; see IRS Publication 969 (2014) available at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p969.pdf (last viewed February 10, 
2017). 
13 Employers are also allowed to contribute to FSAs. 
14 Internal Revenue Service, Revenue Procedure 2016-55, October 25, 2016 (setting contribution limit for 2017 calendar year) available 
at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/rp-16-55.pdf (last viewed February 10, 2017). 
15 Beginning in 2013, an employee may carryover up to $500 into the next calendar year. 
16 An HRA can only be used for qualified medical expenses defined under s. 213(d), I.R.C., including health insurance and long-term 
care insurance. 
17 S. 213(d), I.R.C., permits the deduction of expenses paid for medical care of the taxpayer, his or her spouse, or a dependent. 
Medical care includes amounts paid for the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease; transportation necessary for 
medical care; qualified long-term care services; and health insurance or long-term care insurance. 
STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 5 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



Employer and Employee Contributions 

The state program is considered employer-sponsored since the state contracts with providers and 
contributes a substantial amount on behalf of the employee toward the cost of the insurance premium. 
The state's employer contribution is part of a state employee's overall compensation . The state 
program is a defined-benefit program. In a defined-contribution program, the employer pays a set 
amount toward the monthl~ premium and the employee pays the remainder. The following chart shows 
the monthly contributions 1 of the state and the employee to employee health insurance premium. 

Employer Enrollee Tota l 

$642.84 $15.00 $657.84 

Family $1,379.60 $64.30 $1,443.90 

Spouse $1,529.60 $1,413.92 $30.00 $1,443.92 

Single $684.50 $549.50 $8.34 $657.84 

Family $1,529.60 $1,413.90 $30.00 $1,443.90 

* Includes employer tax-free Health Savings Account (HSA) contribution - $41 .66 and $83.33 per month ($500 and $1 ,000 annually) for single and 
family coverage, respectively 

The state program is projected to spend $2.34 billion in FY 2016-2017 in health benefit costs.19 The 
aggregate annual growth in spending for the state program during the current fiscal year is 6.2 
percent.20 Annual growth is forecasted to rise to more than 11 percent in future fiscal years.21 The 
state has absorbed almost all of the cost of the increase and employee contributions have remained 
the same for the last nine years as illustrated by the following charts.22 

18 Department of Management Services, State Employees' Group Health Self-Insurance Trust Fund, Premium Rate Table Effective 
January 2017 for February 2017 Coverage, available at http:l/mybenefits.myf!orida.com/content/download/130052/808071/DSGI -

Premium Table Effective January 2017 for February 2017 Coverage.pdf (last viewed February 8, 2017). 
19 Supra, FN 2, page 4. 
20 Department of Management Services, Overview of the State Group Health Insurance Program, presentation to the Health and 
Human Services Committee on February 14, 2017, slide 5 (on file with Health and Human Services Committee staff). 
21 Supra , FN 2, page 3. 
22 Supra , FN 20 at slide 15. 
STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 6 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



04-05 

05-06 

06-07 

07-08 

08-09 

09-10 

10-11 

11-12 

12-13 

13-14 

14-15 

15-16 

16-17 

04-05 

05-06 

06-07 

07-08 

08-09 

09-10 

10-11 

11-12 

12-13 

13-14 

14-15 

15-16 

16-17 

STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/6/2017 

Single Coverage Annual Premium 
• Employee State 

$4,154 

$4,534 

$4,791 

$5,384 

$5,683 

$5,998 

$5,998 

$6,453 

------$7,098 

$7,098 

$7,098 

$7,714 

Family Coverage Annual Premium 
• Employee State 

-- $8,002 

$8,591 

$9,451 

$10,032 

$11,373 

$12,050 

$12,760 

$12,760 

$13,790 

$15,169 

$15,169 _______ ____. 

$15,169 

$16,555 

PAGE : 7 



Plan Enrollment 

The state program has 366,080 covered lives and 173,761 policyholders. 23 Currently, 51.4% of 
enrollees who chose the standard plan selected an HMO while 48.6% chose the PP0.24 Only 1.9% of 
enrollees chose either HDHP. 25 During the open enrollment period for 2015, PPO enrollment 
increased slightly, by 0.05%, and HMO enrollment decreased by 0.46%.26 Open Enrollment trends 
forecasted from FY 2016-17 through 2020-21 show an average annual decrease in PPO plan 
enrollment of 0.5% and an average increase in HMO plan enrollment of 2.5%? 

Employer Sponsored Insurance Trends 

In 2010, DSGI contracted with Mercer Consulting to prepare a Benchmarking Report28 ~report) for the 
state. The report compares Florida's program to the programs of other large employers 9

, both in the 
public and in the private sectors. The report found that the State of Florida contributes a higher 
percentage of the premium to employee health benefits than other states and private employers. At the 
time, Florida paid 84% of the monthly premium for a family PPO plan, but the average for large national 
employers was 69% . This results in Florida state employees paying less in monthly premiums than 
other states' employees and private employees. For example, the monthly premium for a family PPO 
plan for a Florida state employee is $180 and in 2011, the average premium for large national 
employers was $361. 

Today, the monthly premium for a family PPO plan for a Florida state employee is still $180; however, 
the state now pays 88% of the premium30 and the benchmark premium for large national employers 
ranges from $270 to $391 with the company paying 71% to 79% of the premium.31 

The national trend among large employer health plans is increasing enrollment in high-deductible 
health plans (HDHP) and declining enrollment in HMOs as illustrated in the following chart32

: 

2013 

2009 

2005 

2001 

Mercer's latest survey of employer health plans reveals that near 3 in 10 employees were enrolled in an 
HDHP in 2016.33 

23 ld . at slide 7. 
24 Supra , FN 2 at page 1. 
25 Supra , FN 21 at slides 8-9. 
26 Florida Legislature, Office of Economic and Demographic Research, Self-Insurance Estimating Conference, State Employees' Group 
Health Self-Insurance Trust Fund , Report on the Financial Outlook, March 9, 2015, page 1, available at 
http://edr.state.fl.us/ContenUconferences/healthinsurance/archives/150309healthins.pdf (last viewed February 10, 2017). 
27 Supra, FN 23. 
28 Mercer Consulting , State of Florida Benchmarking Report, March 24, 2011 , available at: 
http :1/www. dms. myf!orida .com/contenUdownload/814 7 5/468865/version/1 /file/20 1 0+ Small+ Em ployer+Benchma rking + Report+for+State 
+of+Fiorida.pdf. 
29 For the purpose of the report, "large employers" had 500 or more employees. 
30 The state contributes 92% of the premium for the individual PPO plan. 
31 Market-Based Framework for Health Plan Program Changes, Mercer Health & Benefits, presentation to the Health and Human 
Services Committee on January 16, 2014, at slide 18. 
32 ld. at slide 6. 
33 Mercer, Mercer survey: Health benefit cost growth slows to 2.4% in 2016 as enrollment in high-deductible plans climbs, October 26, 
2016, available at https://www.mercer.com/newsroom/national-survey-of-employer-sponsored-health-plans-2016.html (last viewed 
February 8, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 8 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



The state program's trend is the reverse of the national trend in HMO, PPO, and HOHP because of the 
HMO's high actuarial value and no difference in premiums between the HMO and PPO. The actuarial 
value (AV) measures the percentage of expected medical costs that a health plan will cover and is 
generally considered a measure of the health plan's generosity. The state program's standard HMO as 
an AV of 93%, the standard PPO has an AV of 86%, and the HOHP has an AV of 80%? Accordingly, 
enrollees in the state program gravitate toward the high value, low cost HMO because they experience 
no price difference between the plans. 

Employee Choice 

The FY 2011-2012 General Appropriations Act directed OMS to develop a report of plan alternatives 
and options for the state program. OMS contracted with Buck Consultants which released its report35 

on September 29, 2011. The report concludes: 

The state's current approach to its health plan is best described as paternalistic, whereby 
the state serves as the architect/custodian of the plan, providing generous benefits and 
allowing employees to be passive and perhaps even entitled, with little concern about costs . 
Historically prevalent among large and governmental employers, this approach is rapidly 
being replaced by initiatives that focus on increasing and improving consumerism behaviors. 
In the consumerism approach the employer and employees maintain shared accountability, 
with the employer providing a supportive environment, partnering with employees and 
enabling them to make informed decisions, considering costs and outcomes of the health 
care services they seek and receive. 

In a presentation before the Health and Human Services Committee on January 16, 2014, Mercer 
Health & Benefits (Mercer) reported that the state program is behind other large employers in key 
survey trends.36 The state program has plans with lower employee premiums and higher benefits than 
industry benchmarks. 37 There is virtually no enrollment in HOHPs versus significant growth nationally.38 

Florida's plan costs and annual trend increase are higher than national survey data.39 State employees 
have little real choice among health plan options since there is only a 4 percent difference in the 
"richness of the benefits" between the HMO and PPO, and the price is the same.4° Consequently, 99 
percent of enrollees chose the HMO or PPO with little to no incentive to choose the HOHP.4 1 

Effect of the Bill 

Premium Adjustments 

Current law provides that "the state contribution toward the cost of any plan in the state group 
insurance pro~ram shall be uniform with respect to all state employees ... participating in the same 
coverage tier4 in the same plan ."43 Since there is a 4 percent difference in the actuarial value between 
the HMO and the PPO, the state currently pays more from the State Employees' Group Health Self
Insurance Trust Fund (Trust Fund) for the HMO benefits. However, each year the Legislature sets 

34 Supra , FN 31 at slide 20. 
35 Buck Consultants, Strategic Health Plan Options for the State of Florida_(September 29, 2011 ), available at: 
http://www.dms.myflorida.com/contenUdownload/81468/468856/version/1/file/Strategic+Health+Pian+Options+for+the+State+of+Fiorid 
a+9-30-11+-+Final.pdf (last viewed on February 8, 2017). 
36 Supra, FN 31 at slide 5. 
37 ld. 
38 ld. 
39 Supra, FN 31 at slide 6. 
4° Foster and Foster, Actuarial Value Contribution Analysis, March 20, 2015 at page 3. 
41 Supra, FN 31 at slide 9. 
42 The coverage tier is either individual or family. 
43 S. 110.123(3)(f), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 9 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



uniform premium amounts in the General Appropriations Act for state paid premiums. The premiums 
are deposited into the Trust Fund and used to pay the expenses of the state program. 

Because OMS is currently procuring HMO contracts for the SGI program, the value of the benefits 
offered by the HMOs that will receive a contract is unknown. Employee contribution rates that reflect 
the different values of the HMO and the PPO cannot be determined until the conclusion of the 
procurement. The bill directs OMS to determine and recommend employee contribution rates for 
standard plans and high deductible health plans for the 2018 plan year reflecting the actuarial benefit 
difference between the HMO and the PPO plans for both self-insured and fully insured products. The 
proposed enrollee premium rates for the 2018 plan year must be submitted to the LBC for review and 
approval. If the LBC does not approve the proposed rates, the rates provided in the 2017-18 General 
Appropriations Act will apply. 

Additional Benefits 

Many state employees enroll in products offered by the state program other than health insurance: 

Insurance Plans Average Enrollment FY 2011-12 

Aexible Spending 
Plans 
16,642 

44,159 

State Employees' 
PPO Health Plans state-Contracted 

HMO Plans 
83,456 

Baslc Life 
Insurance Plans 

185,166 

The bill allows OMS to contract for additional products to be included in the state program. These 
include: 

• Prepaid limited health service organizations as authorized under part I of chapter 636. 
• Discount medical plan organizations as authorized under part II of chapter 636. 
• Prepaid health clinic service providers licensed under part II of chapter 641 . 
• Health care providers, including hospitals and other licensed health facilities, health care clinics, 

licensed health professionals, and other licensed health care providers, who sell service 
contracts and arrangements for a specified amount and type of health services. 

• Provider organizations, including service networks, group practices, professional associations, 
and other incorporated organizations of providers, who sell service contracts and arrangements 
for a specified amount and type of health services. 

• Entities that provide specific health services in accordance with applicable state law and sell 
service contracts and arrangements for a specified amount and type of health services. 

• Entities that provide health services or treatments through a bidding process. 

STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/6/2017 

PAGE: 10 



• Entities that provide health services or treatments through bundling or aggregating the health 
services or treatments. 

• Entities that provide other innovative and cost-effective health service delivery methods. 

The bill also directs OMS to contract with at least one entity that provides comprehensive pricing and 
inclusive services for surgery and other medical procedures. These bundled services will be another 
option for state employees. The entity will be required to have procedures and evidence-based 
standards to assure only high quality health care providers are included. Assistance must be provided 
to the enrollee in accessing care and in the coordination of the care. The bundled services must 
provide cost savings to the state program and the enrollee, which will be shared by the state and the 
enrollee. The cost savings payable to an enrollee can be paid : 

• To the enrollee's FSA; 
• To the enrollee's HSA; 
• To the enrollee's HRA; or 
• To the enrollee as additional health plan reimbursements not exceeding the amount of the 

enrollee's out-of-pocket medical expenses. 

The selected entity must provide an educational campaign for employees to learn about the offered 
services. 

By January 15 of each year, OMS must report to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and the 
Speaker of the House of Representatives on the participation level and cost-savings to both the 
enrollee and the state resulting from contract. 

Price Transparency and Cost Savings Sharing 

The costs of health care procedures are often unknown and unknowable to consumers and can vary 
dramatically among providers.44 For example, the average Medicare expenditure for surgery, 
hospitalization, and recovery ranges from $16,500 to $33,000 across geographic areas for lower 
extremity joint replacement, which includes hips and knees.45 

The California Public Employees' Retirement System (CaiPERS) , the second largest benefits program 
in the country started a "reference pricing" initiative in 2011. CaiPERS set a threshold of $30,000 for 
hospital payments for both for inpatient hip and knee replacements and designated certain hospitals 
where enrollees could get care at or below that price. If enrollees had surgery at designated hospitals, 
they paid only their plans' typical deductible and coinsurance up to the out-of-pocket maximum. 
Patients could go to other in-network hospitals for care but were responsible for both the typical cost 
sharing and all allowed amounts exceeding the $30,000 threshold , which were not subject to an out-of
pocket maximum. The initiative reportedly resulted in $2.8 million savings for CaiPERS and $300,000 
in savings for enrollees in 2011 without sacrificing quality.46 

The bill directs OMS to contract with at least one entity that provides online health care price and 
quality information, including the average price paid for health care services and providers by county. 
The contract requires the entity to allow enrollees to shop for health care using the information provided 
to select higher quality, lower cost services and providers. The contract also requires the entity to 

44 How to Bring the Price of Health Care Into the Open, The Wall Street Journal , Melinda Beck, February 23, 2014, available at: 
http://online.wsj.comlnews/articles/SB1 0001424052702303650204579375242842086688?mod=trending now 5 (last viewed on 
February 8, 2017). Does Knowing Medical Prices Save Money? CaiPERS Experiment Says Yes , Kaiser Health News, Ankita Rao, 
December 6, 2013, available at: http:l/capsules.kaiserhealthnews.orq/index.php/2013/12/does-knowinq-medical-prices-save-money
calpers-experiment-says-yes/ (last viewed on February 8, 2017). 
45 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services, Comprehensive Care for Joint 
Replacement Model, available at https://innovation.cms.gov/initiatives/cjr (last viewed February 10, 2017). 
46 The Potential of Reference Pricing to Generate Health Care Savings: Lessons from a California Pioneer, Center for Studying Health 
System Change, Amanda E. Lechner, Rebecca Gourevitch, Paul B. Ginsburg , Research Brief No. 30 , December 2013, available at: 
http://www.hschange.org/CONTENT/1397/ (last viewed on February 8, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 11 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



identify any savings realized between what the enrollee pays for a service or provider and the average 
price paid for the same service or provider. The bill provides for the enrollee and state to share any 
savings generated by the enrollee's choice of providers. The amount payable to the employee can be 
paid: 

• To the employee's FSA; 
• To the employee's HSA; 
• To the employee's HRA; or 
• To the employee as additional health plan reimbursements not exceeding the amount of the 

enrollee's out-of-pocket medical expenses. 

By January 1 of 2019, 2020, and 2021, the department shall report to the Governor, the President of 
the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives on the participation level , the amount 
paid to enrollees, and cost-savings to both the enrollees and the state resulting from the price 
transparency pilot project. 

Additional Benefit Choices 

Beginning in the 2020 plan year, the bill provides that state employees will have health plan choices at 
four different benefit levels. These levels are: 

• Platinum Level (at least 90% AV) 
• Gold Level (at least 80% A V) 
• Silver Level (at least 70% AV) 
• Bronze Level (at least 60% AV) 

The state will make a defined contribution for each employee toward the cost of purchasing a health 
plan. The employee will have the following options: 

• Use the entire employer contribution to pay for health insurance and pay any additional 
premium if the cost of the plan exceeds the employer contribution. 

• Use part of the employer contribution to pay for health insurance and have the balance credited 
to a FSA. 

• Use part of the employer contribution to pay for health insurance and have the balance credited 
to an HSA. 

• Use part of the employer contribution to pay for health insurance and use the balance to 
purchase additional benefits offered through the state group insurance program. 

• Use part of the employer contribution to pay for health insurance and have the balance used to 
increase the employee's pay.47 

The state currently pays 92 percent of the employee's premium for an individual plan and 88 percent 
for a family plan for a Platinum level plan (HMO) or a Gold level plan (PPO). 

The following chart illustrates a hypothetical48 example for a Career Service employee with a family 
plan and a defined contribution benchmarked using the current state contribution, current employee 
contribution, and the current plan cost: 

47 The employee must use part of the employer contribution to purchase health insurance. The employee may not receive pay in lieu of 
benefits. 
48 All examples must be hypothetical since the 2018 benefit structure and plan actuarial values cannot be known at this time. 
STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 12 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



Family Coverage 
Current Plan 80%AV 70%AV 60%AV 

88%-92%AV Coverage Coverage Coverage 

State Contribution $16,555 $16,555 $16,555 $16,555 

Plan Cost $18,715 $14,972 $13,101 $11,229 

Employee Contribution $2,160 $0 $0 $0 

Employee Receives $0 $1,583 $3,454 $5,326 

Under this hypothetical , the employee may choose the same value health plan as the employee has 
today and pay the same amount as today. Unlike today, the employee may also choose a different 
health plan and use the remainder toward other health benefits or receive additional salary. 

Independent Benefits Consultant 

The bill also directs DMS to competitively procure an independent benefits consultant (IBC). The IBC 
must not be or have a financial relationship in any HMO or insurer. Additionally, the IBC must have 
substantial experience in designing and administering benefit plans for large employers and public 
employers. 

The IBC will assist OMS in developing a plan for the implementation of the new benefit levels in the 
state program. The plan shall be submitted to the Governor, the President of the Senate and the 
Speaker of the House of Representatives no later than January 1, 2019, and include recommendations 
for: 

• Employer and employee contribution policies. 
• Steps necessary for maintaining or improving total employee compensation levels when the 

transition is initiated. 
• An education strategy to inform employees on the additional choices available in the state 

program. 

The ongoing duties of the IBC include: 

• Providing assessments of trends in benefits and employer sponsored insurance that affect the 
state program. 

• Conducting comprehensive analysis of the state program including available benefits, coverage 
options, and claims experience. 

• Identifying and establishing appropriate adjustment procedures necessary to respond to any 
risk segmentation that may occur when increased choices are offered to employees. 

• Assist the department with : 
o The submission of any necessary plan revisions for federal review. 
o Ensuring compliance with applicable federal and state regulations. 
o Monitoring the adequacy of funding and reserves for the state self-insured plan. 

The IBC will assist OMS in preparing recommendations for any modifications to the state program no 
later than January 1 of each year which shall be submitted to the Governor, the President of the 
Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 110.123, F.S., relating to state group insurance program. 
Section 2: Creates s. 110.12303, F.S. , relating to state group insurance program; additional benefits; 

price transparency program; reporting . 
Section 3: Creates s. 110.12304, F.S., relating to independent benefits consultant. 

STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX PAGE: 13 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



Section 4: Creates an unnumbered section of law authorizing the Department of Management 
Services to determine and recommend premiums for employees in the state group 
insurance plan for the 2018 plan year, submit the proposed premium rates to the 
Legislative Budget Commission for approval, and providing for application of the premium 
rates in the 2017-18 General Appropriations Act if the Legislative Budget Commission does 
not approve the proposed premium rates. 

Section 5: Appropriates $151 ,216 in recurring funds and $507,546 in nonrecurring funds and 
authorizes 2 full-time equivalent positions and 120,000 of associated salary rate for the 
2017-2018 fiscal year to implement the act. 

Section 6: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

See Fiscal Comments. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

The bill will provide additional opportunities for private companies to contract to provide services to the 
state and its employees. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

The bill appropriates $507,546 in nonrecurring trust funds and $151 ,216 in recurring trust funds and 2 
FTEs to OMS to implement the administrative provisions of the bill. The positions and recurring funds 
are provided primarily for the implementation and continued administration of the price transparency 
pilot project, the administration of certain medical and surgical services provided for in the bill, and the 
implementation of communication and education components of the bill. The nonrecurring funds are 
provided to procure consulting services, conduct actuarial analysis, provide procurement support, 
assist in the development of the premium tiers and the reference pricing pilot project, and assist in the 
development of communication and education tools to provide employees with the means to make well
informed and educated choices. 

STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/6/2017 

PAGE: 14 



The provision requiring OMS to determine and propose employee premium rates that reflect the 
actuarial benefit difference between the HMO, PPO and HDHPs for plan year 2018, if implemented, will 
be cost neutral to the state. Employees will generally have a choice between richer benefits and lower 
premiums. 

OMS has previously indicated that the fiscal impact of the development of the tiered premium structure 
in plan year 2020 is indeterminate. The cost or savings to the state will be dependent on the specifics 
of the premium and cost-sharing arrangement ultimately established by the Legislature in implementing 
the tiered structure. The tiers and premium structure can be designed to be cost-neutral to the state. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

OMS has sufficient rule-making authority to implement the provisions of the bill. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h7007.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/6/2017 

PAGE: 15 



F L 0 R 0 A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 201 7 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to state group insurance program ; 

3 amending s . 110 . 123 , F.S. ; revising applicability of 

4 certain definitions ; defining the term "plan year "; 

5 authorizing the s t ate insurance program to include 

6 additional benefits ; authorizing an employee to use a 

7 specified portion of the state ' s contribution to 

8 purchase additional program benefits and supplemental 

9 benefits under certa i n circumstances; providing for 

10 the program to offer health plans in specified benefit 

11 levels ; requiring the Department of Management 

12 Services to develop a plan for implementation of the 

13 benefit levels ; providing reporting requirements ; 

14 providing for expiration of the implementation plan; 

15 creating s . 110 . 12303 , F . S. ; authorizing additional 

16 benefits to be included in the program ; requiring the 

17 department to contract with at least one entity that 

18 provides comprehens i ve pr i cing and i nclusive services 

19 for surgery and other med i cal procedures ; providing 

20 contract and reporting requirements ; requiring the 

21 department to contract with an entity to provide 

22 enrollees with online information on health care 

23 services and providers ; providing contract and 

24 repor t ing requirements ; creating s. 11 0 .12304 , F.S .; 

25 directing the department to contract with an 

Page 1 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

26 independent benefits consultant ; providing 

27 qualifications and duties of the i ndependent benefits 

28 consultant ; providing reporting requirements; 

29 provid ing that the department shall determine and 

30 recommend premiums for enrollees for the 20 18 plan 

31 year; providing requirements for the determination of 

32 premiums ; requiring the department to submit premium 

33 rates to the Legislative Budget Commiss i on by a 

34 specified date for review and approval ; requiring 

35 premium rates to be consistent with the total budgeted 

36 amount for the program in the General Appropriations 

37 Act for the 2017-2 018 fiscal year ; providing an 

38 appropriat i on and authorizing pos i tions; providing an 

39 effective date . 

40 

41 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Fl orida: 

42 

4 3 Section 1 . Subsect i on ( 2) and paragraphs (b) , (f) , (h) , 

44 and (j) of subsection (3) of sect i on 110 . 123 , Florida Statutes , 

45 are amended , and paragraph (k) is added to subsection (3 ) of 

4 6 that section , to read: 

47 

4 8 

110 . 123 State group insurance program.-

(2 ) DEFINITIONS .-As used in ss . 110 . 123 - 110 . 1239 ~ 

49 section, the term : 

50 (a) "Depa rtment " means the Department of Management 

Page 2 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb?00?-00 



F L 0 R 0 A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

51 Services . 

52 (b) " Enro llee" means all state o ffi cers and employees , 

53 retired state o ffi cers and employees , surviving spouses o f 

54 deceased state officers and employees , and terminated employees 

55 or individuals with continuation coverage who are enrolled in an 

56 insuranc e plan offe red by the state group insurance program. 

57 "Enrollee " includes all state university officers and employees , 

58 retired state uni versity off i cers and employees , surviving 

59 spouses o f deceased state university of ficers and employees, and 

60 terminated state university employees o r individuals with 

61 cont inuati on cove rage who are enro lled in an insura nce plan 

62 o ffered by the state group insurance program. 

63 (c) " Full - time state empl oyees " means employees of all 

64 branches or agencies o f state government holding salaried 

65 positi ons who are paid by state warrant o r from agency fu nds and 

66 who work or are expected to work an average of at least 30 o r 

67 more hours per week ; employees paid fr om regular sa l ary 

68 appropriations f o r 8 months ' emp l oyment , including univers i ty 

69 pers onnel on academi c contracts ; and employees paid from other-

70 personal - services (O PS ) funds as described in subparagraphs 1. 

71 and 2 . The term inc ludes all full - time employees of the state 

72 universities . The term does n o t include seasonal workers who are 

7 3 paid fr om OPS funds . 

74 1. For persons hired before April 1, 2013 , the term 

75 includes any person paid from OPS funds who : 

Page 3 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

76 a . Has worked an average of at least 30 hours or more per 

77 we ek during the initial measurement period from April 1 , 2013 , 

78 through September 30 , 2013 ; or 

79 b. Has worked an average of at least 30 h ours or more per 

80 week dur~ng a subsequent measurement period. 

81 2 . For persons hired after April 1 , 2013 , the term 

82 includes any person paid from OPS funds who : 

83 

84 

85 

86 

87 

88 

89 

90 

91 

92 

93 

94 

95 

96 

97 

98 

99 

100 

a . Is reasonably expected to work an average of at least 

30 hours or more per week ; or 

b. Has worked an average of at least 30 hours or more per 

week during the person's measurement period. 

(d) " Health maintenance organization " or "HMO" means an 

entity certif ied under part I of chapte r 641 . 

(e ) " Health plan member " means any person participat ing in 

a state group health insurance plan, a TRICARE supplemental 

insurance plan , or a health maintenance organization plan under 

the state group insurance program , including enrollees and 

covered dependents thereof. 

(f ) " Part - time state employee " means an employee of any 

branch or agency of state government paid by state warrant from 

salary appropriations or from agency funds , and who is employed 

for less than an average of 30 hours per week or , if on academic 

contract or seasonal or othe r type of employment which is less 

than year - round , is employed for less than 8 months during any 

12 - month period , but does n o t include a person paid from other-

Page 4 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

101 personal - services (OPS) funds. The term includes all part - time 

102 employees of the state universities. 

103 (g) " Plan year " means a calendar year . 

104 J.bl~ " Retired s t a t e o f ficer or employee " or " retiree " 

105 means any state or state u niversity officer or employee who 

106 retires under a state re t irement system or a state optional 

107 annuity or retirement program or is placed on disability 

108 retirement , and who was insured under the state group insurance 

109 program at the t i me of retirement , and who begins receiving 

110 retirement benefits immediately after retirement from state or 

111 state university office or employment . The term also includes 

112 any state officer or state employee who retires under the 

113 Florida Retirement System Investment Plan established under part 

114 II of chapter 121 if he or she : 

115 1. Meets the age and service requirements to qualify for 

116 normal retirement as set forth ins . 121 . 021(29 ) ; or 

117 2 . Has attained the age specified by s. 72(t) (2) (A) (i ) of 

118 the Internal Revenue Code a nd has 6 years of creditable serv i ce . 

119 (i )-tfi-1- " State agency " or " agency " means any branch , 

120 department , or agency of state government. "State agency " or 

121 " agency " includes any state university for purposes of this 

122 section only. 

123 J.ll-t-:i+ " Seasonal workers " has the same meaning as provided 

124 under 29 C. F . R . s . 500 . 20(s) (1) . 

125 ill-+1+ " State group health insurance plan or plans " or 

Page 5 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

126 " state plan or plans " mean the state self- insured health 

127 insurance plan or plans offered to state officers and employees , 

128 retired state officers and employees , and surviving spouses of 

129 deceased state officers a nd employees pursuant to this section . 

130 (1) -f*t "State - contracted HMO " means any health maintenance 

131 organization under contract with the department to participate 

132 in the state group insurance program . 

133 (m)+±+ "State group insurance program " or "programs " means 

134 the package of insurance plan s offered to state officers and 

135 employees , retired state officers and emp l oyees , and surviving 

136 spouses of deceased state officers and emp l oyees pursuant to 

137 th is secti on , including the state group health insurance plan or 

138 plans , hea l th maintenance organization plans , TRICARE 

139 supplemental insurance plans , a nd other plans required or 

140 authorized by law . 

141 (n)-fffl-1-- " State officer " means any constitutional state 

142 officer , any elected state o f ficer paid by state warrant , or any 

143 appointed state officer who is commissioned by the Governor and 

144 who is paid by state warrant . 

145 (o) -frrt " Surviving spouse " means the widow or widower of a 

146 deceased state officer , full - time state employee , part - time 

147 state employee , or retiree if such widow or widower was covered 

148 as a depe ndent under the state group health insurance plan,-a 

149 TR I CARE supplemental insurance plan , or a health maintenance 

150 organiza t ion plan established pursuant t o t h is section at the 

Page 6 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

151 time of the death of the deceased officer , employee , or retiree . 

152 "Surviving spouse " also means any widow or widower who is 

153 receiving or eligible to receive a monthly state warrant from a 

154 state retirement system as the beneficiary of a state off i cer , 

155 full - time state employee , or retiree who died prior to July 1 , 

156 1979 . For the pu r poses of this section , any such widow or 

157 widower shall cease to be a surviving spouse upon his or her 

158 remarriage . 

159 lE..l_-fB-1- " TRICARE supp l emental insurance plan " means the 

160 Department of Defense Health Insurance Program for eligible 

161 members of the uniformed services authorized by 10 U.S . C. s . 

162 1097 . 

163 

164 

( 3) 

(b) 

STATE GROUP INSURANCE PROGRAM . -

It is the intent of the Legislature to offer a 

165 comprehensive package of health insurance and retirement 

166 benefits and a personne l sys t e m for state employees which are 

167 provided in a cost - e ffi cient and prudent manner , and to a l low 

168 s t ate employees the option to choose benefit plans which best 

169 suit their individual needs . Therefo r e , The state group 

170 insurance program i s est a b li shed Hhieh may include the state 

171 group health insurance plan or plans , health maintenance 

172 organization plans , group life insurance plans , TRICARE 

173 supplemental insurance plans , group accidental dea th and 

174 dismemberment plans , aft4 group disability insurance plans~~ 

175 Furthermore , the department i s add i tionally authorized to 

Page 7 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7007 201 7 

176 establish and provide as part of the state group insurance 

177 prograffi any other group insurance plans or coverage choices, and 

178 other benefits authorized by law that are consistent vvith the 

179 provis i ons of th i s sect i on . 

180 (f) Except as provided for in subparagraph (h )2 ., the 

181 state contribution toward the cost of any plan in the state 

182 group insurance program shall be uniform with respect to all 

183 state employees in a state collective bargaining unit 

184 participating in the same coverage tier in the same p l an. This 

185 section does not prohibit the development of separate benefit 

186 plans for off i cers and employees exempt from the career service 

187 or the development of separate benefit plans for each collective 

188 bargaining unit . For the 2020 plan year and each plan year 

189 thereafter , if the state ' s contribution is more than the premium 

190 cost of the health plan selected by the employee , subject to 

191 federal limitation , the employee may elect to have the balance : 

192 1. Credited to the employee ' s flexible spending account ; 

193 2. Credited to the employee ' s health savings account ; 

194 3. Used to purchase additional benefits offered through 

195 the state group insurance program; or 

196 4 . Used to increase the employee ' s salary. 

197 (h )1 . A person eligible to participate in the state group 

198 insurance program may be authorized by rules adopted by the 

199 department , in lieu of parti cipat ing in the state group health 

200 insurance plan, to exercise an option to e lect membership in a 

Page 8 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

201 

202 

203 

204 

205 

206 

207 

208 

209 

210 

211 

212 

213 

214 

215 

216 

217 

218 

219 

220 

221 

222 

223 

224 

health maintenance organization plan which is under contract 

with the state in accordance wi th criteria established by this 

section and by said rules . The offe r of optional membership in a 

health maintenance organization plan permitted by this paragraph 

may be l i mited or conditioned by rule as may be necessary to 

meet the requirements of state and federal laws . 

2 . The department shall contract with health maintenance 

organizations seeking to participate in the state group 

insurance program through a request for proposal or other 

procur ement process , as developed by the Department of 

Management Services and determined to be appropriate . 

a . The department shall establish a schedule of minimum 

benefits for health maintenance organi zation cove rage , and that 

schedule shall include : physician services ; inpatient and 

outpatient hospital serv i ces ; emergency medical services, 

including out - of - area emergency coverage ; diagnostic laboratory 

and diagnostic and therapeutic radiologic services ; mental 

health , alcohol , and chemical dependency treatment services 

meeting the minimum requirements o f state and federal law ; 

skilled nu rsing facilities and services ; prescription drugs ; 

age - based and gender - bas ed wellness benefits ; and other benefits 

as may be required by the department. Additional services may be 

provided subject to the contract between the department and the 

HMO. As used in this paragraph , the term '' age - based and gender -

225 based wellness benefits " includes aerobic exercise , education in 

Page 9 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

226 

227 

228 

229 

230 

231 

232 

233 

234 

235 

236 

237 

238 

239 

240 

241 

242 

243 

244 

245 

246 

247 

248 

249 

250 

HB 7007 2017 

alcohol and substance abuse prevention , blood cholesterol 

screening, health risk appraisa ls, blood pressure screening and 

education , nutrition education , program planning , safety belt 

education , smoking cessation, stress management , weight 

management , and women's health education. 

b . The department may establish uniform deductibles , 

copayments , coverage tiers , or coinsurance schedules for al l 

participating HMO plans. 

c . The department may require detailed information from 

each health maintenance organization participating in the 

procurement process, including information pertaining to 

organizational status , experience in providing prepaid health 

benefits , accessibility of services, financial stability of the 

plan , quality of management services, accreditation status , 

quality of medical services , network access and adequacy , 

performance measurement , ability to meet the department' s 

reporting requirements , and the actuar i al basis of the proposed 

rates and other data determined by the director to be necessary 

for the evaluation and selection of health maintenance 

organization plans and negotiation of appropriate rates for 

these plans. Upon receipt of proposals by health maintenance 

organization plans and the evaluation of those proposals , the 

department may enter into negotiations with all of the plans or 

a subset of the plans , as the department determines appropriate . 

Nothing shall preclude the department from negotiating regional 

Page 10 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 201 7 

251 or statewide contracts with health maintenance organization 

252 plans when this is cost - effective and when the department 

253 determines that the plan offers high value to enrollees . 

254 d. The department may limit the number of HMOs that it 

255 contracts with in each service area based on the nature of the 

256 bids the department receives , the number of state employees in 

257 the service area , or any unique geographical characteristics of 

258 the service area . The department shall establish by rule service 

259 areas throughout the state . 

2 60 

2 61 

262 

263 

264 

265 

266 

2 67 

2 68 

2 69 

270 

271 

272 

273 

274 

275 

e . All persons participating in t h e state group insuranc e 

program may be required to contribute towards a total state 

group health premium that may vary depending upon the plan~ 

coverage level , and coverage tier selected by the enrollee and 

the level of state contribution authorized by the Legislature. 

3 . The department is authorized to negotiate and to 

contract with specia l ty psychiatric hospitals for mental health 

benefits , on a regional basis , for alcohol , drug abuse , and 

mental and nervous disorders. The department may establish , 

subject to the approval of the Legislature pursuant to 

subsection (5 ) , any such regional plan upon completion of an 

actuarial study to determine any impact on plan benefits and 

premiums . 

4 . In addition to contracting pursuant to subparagraph 2., 

the department may enter into contract with any HMO to 

pa r ticipate in the state group insurance program which : 

Page 11 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7007 2017 

276 a . Serves greater than 5 , 000 recipients on a prepaid basis 

277 under the Medicaid program ; 

278 b . Does not currently meet the 25 - percent non -

279 Medicare/non- Medicaid enrollment composition requirement 

280 established by t he Department of Health excluding participants 

281 enrolled in the state group insurance program ; 

282 c . Meets the minimum benefit package and copayments and 

283 deductibles contained in sub- subparagraphs 2 . a. and b .; 

284 d . I s willing to pa r ticipate in the state group insurance 

285 program at a cost of premiums that is not greater than 95 

286 percent of the cost of HMO premi ums accepted by the department 

287 in each servi ce area ; and 

288 e . Meets the minimum surplus requirements of s. 641 . 225 . 

289 

290 The department is authorized to contract with HMOs that meet the 

291 requirements of sub- subparagraph s a .-d . prior to the open 

292 enrollment period for state employees . The department is not 

293 required to renew the contract with the HMOs as set forth in 

294 this paragraph more than twice. Thereafter , the HMOs shall be 

295 eligible to part i cipate in the state group insu rance program 

296 only through the request for proposal or invitation to negotiate 

297 process descr i bed in subparagraph 2 . 

298 5. All enro llees i n a state group health insurance plan , a 

299 TRICARE supplemental insurance plan , or any health maintenance 

300 organization plan have the option of changing to any other 

Page 12 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

301 health plan that is offered by the state within any open 

302 enrollment period designated by the department. Open enrollment 

303 shall be held at least once each calendar year. 

304 6 . When a contract between a treating provider and the 

305 state - contracted health ma intenance organization is terminated 

306 for any reason other than for cause , each party shall allow any 

307 enrollee f or whom treatment was active to continue coverage and 

308 care when medi cally necessary , through completion of treatment 

309 of a condit ion for which the e nrollee was receiving ca re at the 

310 time of the termination , unt il the enrollee selects another 

311 treating provider , or until the next open enrollment period 

312 offered , whichever is longer , but no longer than 6 months after 

313 termination of the contract . Each party to the terminated 

314 contract shall allow an enrollee who has initiated a course of 

315 prena tal care , regardless of the trimester in which care was 

316 initiated, to continue care and coverage until comp l etion of 

317 postpartum care. Thi s does not prevent a provider from refusing 

318 to continue to provide care to an enrollee who is abusive , 

319 noncompliant , or in arrears in payment s for services provided. 

320 For care continued under this subparagraph , the program and the 

321 provider shall cont inue to be bound by the terms of the 

322 terminated contract . Changes made within 30 days before 

323 termination of a contract are effective only if agreed to by 

324 both parties. 

325 7. Any HMO participating in the state group insurance 

Page 13 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

326 

327 

328 

329 

330 

331 

332 

333 

334 

335 

336 

337 

338 

339 

340 

341 

342 

343 

344 

345 

3 46 

347 

348 

349 

350 

HB 7007 2017 

program shall submit health care utilization and cost data to 

the department , in such form and in such manner as the 

department shall require , as a condition of participating in the 

program . The department shall enter into negotiati ons with its 

contracting HMOs to determine the nature and scope of the data 

submission and the final requirements , format , penalties 

associated with noncompliance , and timetables for submission. 

These determinations shall be adopted by rule . 

8. The department may establish and direct, with respect 

to co llective bargaining issues , a comprehensive package of 

insurance benefits that may incl ude supp l emental health and life 

cove rage , dental ca re , long- term care , vision care , and other 

benefits it determines necessary to enable state employees to 

select from among benefit options that best suit their 

individual and family needs . Beginning with the 2018 p l an year , 

the pa ckage of benefits may also include products and services 

described ins . 110 . 12303. 

a . Bas ed upon a desired benefit package , the department 

shall issue a request for proposal or invitation to negotiate 

for health insurance providers interested in participating in 

the state group insurance program, and the department shall 

issue a request for proposal or invitation to negotiate for 

insurance providers interested in participating in the non 

health- related components of the state group insurance program. 

Upon receipt of all proposals , the department may enter into 

Page 14 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7007 

351 contract negotiations with insurance providers submitting bids 

352 or negotiate a specially designed benefit package . Insurance 

201 7 

353 Providers offering or providing supplemental coverage as of May 

354 30 , 1991, which qualify for pretax benefit treatment pursuant to 

355 s . 125 o f the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 , with 5 , 500 or more 

356 state employees currently enrolled may be included by the 

357 department in the supplemental insurance benefit plan 

358 established by the department without participating in a request 

359 for proposal , submitting bids , negotiating contracts , or 

360 negotiating a specially designed benef i t package. These 

361 contrac t s shall provide state employees with the most cost -

362 effective and comprehensive coverage available; however , except 

363 as provided in subparagraph (f)3 ., no state or agency funds 

364 shall be contributed toward the cost of any part of the premium 

365 of such supplemental benefit plans . With respect to dental 

366 coverage , the division shall inc lude in any solicitation or 

367 contract for any state group dental program made after July 1 , 

368 2001 , a comprehens ive indemnity dental plan option which of f ers 

369 enrollees a comp l etely unrestricted choice of dentists. If a 

370 dental plan is endorsed , or in some manner recognized as the 

371 preferred product , such plan shall include a comprehensive 

372 indemnity dental plan opt i on which provides enrollees with a 

373 completely unrestric ted choice of dentists. 

374 b. Pursuant to the applicable provisions of s . 110 . 161 , 

375 and s . 125 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, the department 

Page 15 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

376 shall enroll in the pretax benefit program those state employees 

377 who voluntarily elect coverage in any of the supplemental 

378 insurance benefit plans as provided by sub- subparagraph a . 

379 c . Nothing herein contained shall be construed to prohibit 

380 i nsurance providers from continuing to provide or offer 

381 supplemental benefit coverage to state employees as provided 

382 under existing agency plans. 

383 (j) For the 2020 plan year and each plan year thereafter , 

384 health plans shall be offered i n the following benefit levels : 

385 1 . Platinum level , which shall have an actuarial value of 

386 at least 90 percent . 

387 2. Gold level , which shall have an actuarial value of at 

388 l east 80 perc en t . 

389 3 . Silver level , which shall h ave a n actuarial value of at 

390 least 70 percent. 

391 4 . Bronze level, wh i ch shall have an actuarial value of at 

392 least 60 percent NotHithstanding paragraph (f) requiring uniform 

393 contributions, and for the 2011 2012 fiscal year only, the state 

394 contribution tmvard the cost of any plan in the state group 

395 insurance plan is the difference bet'.veen the overall premium and 

3 9 6 the employee contribution . This subsection eHpires June 30, 

3 9 7 -2-G-±-2- • 

398 (k) In consultation with the independent benefits 

399 consultant described ins . 110 . 12304 , the department shall 

400 develop a plan for implementation of the benefit levels 

Page 16 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7007 

401 described in paragraph (j) . The plan shall be submitted to the 

402 Governor , the President of the Senate , and the Speaker of the 

403 House of Representatives by January 1 , 2019 , and include 

404 recommendat i on s for: 

405 1. Employer and employee contribution policies . 

406 2 . Steps necessary for maintaining or improving total 

407 employee compensation levels when the transition is initiated . 

408 3 . An education strategy to inform emp l oyees of the 

409 additional choices available in the state group insurance 

410 program . 

411 

412 This paragraph expires July 1 , 2019 . 

2017 

41 3 Section 2 . Section 110 . 12303 , Florida Statut es , is created 

414 to read : 

415 110 . 12303 State group insurance program; additional 

416 benef i ts ; price transparency program ; reporting .-Beginning with 

417 the 2018 plan year : 

418 (1) In addition to the comprehensive package of health 

419 insurance and other benefits required or authorized to be 

420 included in the state group insurance program , the package of 

421 benefits may also include products and services offered by: 

422 (a ) Prepaid limited health service organizations 

423 autho r ized pursuant to part I of chapter 636 . 

424 (b) Discount medical plan organizations authorized 

425 pursuant to par t II of chapter 636 . 

Page 17 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7007 

426 (c) Prepaid health clinics licensed under part II of 

427 chapter 641. 

428 (d) Licensed health care providers , including hospitals 

429 and other health care facilities , health care clinics , and 

430 health professionals , who sell service contracts and 

2017 

431 arrangements for a specified amount and type of health services. 

432 (e) Provider organizations , including service networks , 

433 group practices , p r o f essional associations , and other 

434 incorporated organizations of providers , who sell service 

435 contracts and arrangements for a specified amount and type of 

4 3 6 health services . 

437 (f) Entities that provide specific health services in 

438 accordance with applicable state law and sell service contracts 

439 and arrangements for a specified amount and type of health 

4 4 0 s e rvices . 

441 (g) Ent i ties that provide health services or treatments 

442 through a b i dding process . 

443 (h ) Entities that provide health services or treatments 

444 through the bundling or aggregating of health servi c es or 

445 treatments . 

446 (i) Entities that provide other innovative and cost -

447 effective health service delivery methods. 

448 (2) (a ) The department shall contract with at least one 

449 entity that provides comprehensive pric i ng and inclusive 

450 services for surgery and other medical procedures which may be 

Page 18 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7007 

451 accessed at the option of the enrollee . The contract shall 

452 require the entity to : 

2017 

453 1. Have procedures and evidence - based standards to ensure 

454 the inclusion of only h i gh - quality hea l th care providers . 

455 2 . Prov i de assistan ce to the enrollee in access i ng a nd 

456 coordinating care . 

457 3 . Provide cost savings to the state group insurance 

458 program to be shared with both the state and the enrollee . Cost 

459 savings payable to a n enrollee may be : 

4 60 a . Credited to the enro l lee ' s flexible spending account ; 

461 b . Credited to the enrollee ' s health savings account ; 

462 c . Credited to the enrollee ' s health reimbursement 

463 account ; or 

464 d . Paid as additiona l health plan reimbursements not 

465 exceeding the amount of the enrollee ' s out - of - pocket medical 

466 expe nses . 

467 4. Prov i de an educational campaign for enrollees to learn 

468 about the services of f ered by the entity . 

469 (b) On or before January 15 of each year , the department 

470 shall report to the Governor , the President of the Senate , and 

471 the Speaker of the House of Representatives on the participation 

472 level and cost - sav i ngs to both the enrollee and the state 

473 result i ng from the contract o r contracts described in this 

474 subsec t ion . 

475 (3) Th e department sha ll contract with an ent i ty that 

Page 19 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7007 2017 

476 

477 

478 

479 

480 

481 

482 

483 

484 

485 

486 

487 

488 

489 

490 

491 

4 92 

493 

494 

provides enrollees with online information on the cost and 

quality of health care services and providers , allows an 

enrollee to shop for health care services and providers, and 

rewards the enrollee by sharing savings generated by the 

enrollee ' s choice of services or providers . The contract shall 

require the entity to: 

(a) Establish an Internet - based , consumer - friendly 

platform that educates and informs enrollees about the price and 

quality of health care services and providers , including the 

average amount paid in each county for health care services and 

providers . The average amounts paid for such services and 

providers may be expressed for service bundles, which include 

all products and services associated with a particular treatment 

or episode of care , or for separate and distinct products and 

services. 

(b) Allow enrollees to shop for health care services and 

providers using the price and quality information provided on 

the Internet - based platform . 

(c) Permit a certified barga i ning agent of state employees 

495 to provide educational materials and counseling to enrollees 

496 regarding the Internet - based platform. 

497 (d) Identify the savings reali zed to the enrollee and 

498 state if the enrollee chooses high-quali ty , lower - cost health 

499 care services or providers, and facilitate a shared savings 

500 payment to the enrollee. The amount of shared savings shall be 

Page 20 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7007 201 7 

501 determined by a methodo l ogy approved by the depar tment and shall 

502 maximize value - based purchasing by enrol lees . The amount payable 

503 to the enro llee may be : 

504 1. Cred i ted to the enrollee ' s flexib le spending account ; 

505 2 . Credited t o the enrollee ' s health savings account ; 

506 3 . Credited to the enro l lee ' s health reimbursement 

507 a ccount; or 

508 4 . Paid as add itional heal t h p l an reimburs emen ts not 

509 exceeding the amount of the enrollee ' s out - of - pocke t medi cal 

510 expenses. 

511 (e ) On or before Janua ry 1 of 2019 , 2020, and 2021, the 

512 department sha ll report to the Governor , the President of the 

513 Senate , and t he Speaker of the House o f Representatives on the 

514 participation level , amount paid t o enrollees, and cost - savings 

515 to both the enrollees and the state resulting from t he 

516 impl eme ntat ion of th i s subsection. 

517 Section 3 . Sect i on 11 0 . 12304 , Florida Statute s , is crea ted 

518 t o read : 

519 110.12304 Independent benef i ts consultant . -

520 (1) The department shall competitively procure an 

521 independent benefits consultant . 

522 

52 3 

(2 ) The independent bene fi ts consu l tant may not : 

(a ) Be owned or contro lled by a health maintenance 

524 organizati o n o r insurer . 

525 (b) Have an ownership interest in a health ma i ntenance 

Page 21 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7007 

526 organization or insurer. 

527 (c) Have a direct or indirect financial interest in a 

528 health maintenance organization or insurer. 

52 9 (3) The independen t benefits consultant must have 

53 0 substantial experience in consultat i on and design of employee 

531 benefit programs for large employers and public employers, 

201 7 

532 including experience with pla ns that qualify as cafeteria p lans 

533 under s. 125 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 

534 (4) The independen t benefits consultant shall: 

535 (a) Provide an ongoing assessment of trends in benefits 

536 and employer-sponsored insuranc e that affect the state group 

537 insurance program . 

538 (b) Conduct a comprehensive analysis of the state group 

539 insurance program, includ ing ava ilable benefits, cove rage 

540 options, and claims experience . 

541 (c) Identify and establish appropriate adjustment 

542 procedures ne ce ssary to respo nd t o any risk segmentati on that 

54 3 may occu r when increa sed c hoices are offered to employees. 

544 (d) Assist the department wi th the submission of any 

545 necessa ry plan revisions f or fed eral review. 

546 (e) Assist the department in ensuring compl iance with 

547 applicable federal and state regulations. 

548 (f ) Ass ist the department in monitoring the adequacy of 

549 funding and reserves for the state self- insured plan . 

550 (g) Assist the department in preparing recommendations f or 

Page 22 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7007 2017 

551 any modifications to the state group insurance program which 

552 shall be submitted to the Gove r nor , the President of the Senate , 

553 and the Speaker of the House of Representatives by January 1 of 

554 each year . 

555 Section 4. For the 2018 plan year , the Department of 

556 Management Services shall determine and recommend premiums for 

557 enrollees that reflect the actual differences in costs to the 

558 program for each of the health maintenance organization and the 

559 preferred provider organization plan options offered in the 

560 state group insurance program for both self- insured and fully 

561 insured plans. The premium alternatives for the plan options 

562 shall reflect the costs to the program for both med i cal and 

563 prescription drug benefits. By July 1, 2017 , the department 

564 shall submit t h e proposed enrollee premium rates for the 2018 

565 plan yea r to the Legislat i ve Budget Commission for review and 

566 approval . If the Leg i slative Budget Commission does not approve 

567 the proposed rates , the rates provided in the 2017 - 2018 General 

568 Appropriations Act shall apply . The premium rates for employers 

569 shall be the same as those established for the state group 

570 insurance program in the General Appropriations Act for the 

571 2017 - 2018 fiscal year . 

572 Section 5 . (1) For the 2017 - 2018 fiscal year , the sums of 

573 $151 , 216 in recurring funds and $507 , 546 in nonrecurring funds 

574 are appropriated from the State Emp l oyees Health Insurance Trust 

575 Fund to the Depar t ment of Management Services , and two full - time 

Page 23 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7007 

576 equivalent positions and associated salary rate of 120 , 000 are 

577 authorized , for the purpose of implementing this act. 

578 (2) (a) The recurring funds appropriated in this section 

579 shall be allocated to the fo l lowing specific appropriation 

2017 

580 categories within the Insurance Benefits Administration Program : 

581 $150 , 528 in Salaries and Benefits and $688 in Special Categories 

582 Transfer to Department of Management Services-Human Resources 

583 Purchased per Statewide Contract . 

584 (b) The nonrecurring funds appropriated in this section 

585 shall be a llocated to the following specific appropriation 

586 categories : $500 , 000 in Special Categories Contracted Services 

587 and $7 , 546 in Expenses . 

588 Section 6 . This act shall take effect July 1 , 2017. 

Page 24 of 24 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7007-00 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 7021 PCB PIE 17-03 Local Government Ethics Reform 
SPONSOR(S): Public Integrity & Ethics Committee, Metz 
TIED BILLS: HB 7023 IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Orig. Comm.: Public Integrity & Ethics Committee 18 Y, 0 N Kiner Rubottom 
~ ........ 

1) Appropriations Committee Delaney ~v.,JJ Leznoff V}j-
2) Government Accountability Committee v 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

The bill makes numerous changes to Florida's Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees (Code) as it 
relates to local government officers, employees, and lobbyists. Specifically, the bill creates or amends ethics 
provisions related to the following: 

• Requires city commissioners serving municipalities with $5 million or more in total revenue, and 
candidates for such offices, to file a full and public disclosure of their financial interests in lieu of the 
less detailed form of disclosure required under current law; 

• Corrects an oversight with respect to the Code's prohibition on conflicting employment or contractual 
relationships ; 

• Requires special district governing board members to annually complete four hours of ethics training, a 
requirement that mirrors the current law applicable to constitutional officers and elected municipal 
officers; 

• Strengthens the law on voting conflicts of interest by requiring local officers that must abstain from 
voting on a measure due to a voting conflict of interest to disclose the conflict prior to participating in the 
measure; 

• Adds school districts to the list of governmental entities that may withhold salary-related payments for 
failure to timely file disclosure of financial interests; 

• Requires a person who wishes to lobby certain local governmental entities to register as a lobbyist with 
the Commission on Ethics; 

• Expands the duties of the Commission on Ethics to include rendering advisory opinions. 

The bill has a projected fiscal impact on the state of approximately $465,000 in fiscal year 2017-18 to develop 
a system to track and publish registrations online. However, no additional appropriation is necessary as the 
Commission on Ethics has sufficient carryforward funds to cover any such costs until revenue from fees begin 
to be received on October 1, 2018. In addition, there is an indeterminate fiscal impact on local governments 
and the private sector. See the Fiscal Analysis section for further detail. 

The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2017. Section 9 becomes effective October 1, 2018. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021 .APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/3/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

The Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees (Code) is set forth in part Ill , chapter 112, 
F.S. Foremost among the goals of the Code of Ethics is to promote the public interest and 
maintain the respect of the people for their government. The Code is also intended to ensure 
that public officials conduct themselves independently and impartially, not using their offices for 
private gain other than compensation provided by law. 1 While seeking to protect the integrity of 
government, the Code also seeks to avoid the creation of unnecessary barriers to public 
service. 2 

The Code contains provisions that establish standards for the conduct of elected and appointed 
officials and government employees related , but not limited to , the following : 

• Prohibited actions or conduct - including prohibitions on the solicitation or acceptance of 
gifts, unauthorized compensation , misuse of public position , disclosure or use of certain 
information , solicitation or acceptance of honoraria ; 

• Prohibited employment and business relationships - including prohibitions on dual public 
employment, doing business with one's agency, as well as conflicting employment or 
contractual relationships ; 

• Misuse of public position; 
• Anti-nepotism; 
• Post-office holding/post-employment restrictions ; 
• Voting conflicts of interest; 
• Ethics training; and 
• Financial disclosure. 

These Code provisions apply not only to officials and employees of state entities, but also to 
local government officers and employees. 

Full and Public Disclosure of Financial Interests (Sections 1, 5, and 7) 

Current Law 

The Florida Constitution requires all elected constitutional officers, candidates for such offices, 
and statewide elected officers, to file a full and public disclosure of their financial interests.3 

Other public officers, candidates, and public employees may be required to file a full and public 
disclosure of their financial interests as determined by law. 4 

Pursuant to the constitution , 'full and public disclosure of financial interests' means the reporting 
individual must disclose his or her net worth and the value of each asset and liability in excess 
of $1 ,000. 5 The disclosure must be accompanied with either a sworn statement with this 
information or a copy of the reporting individual 's most recent federal income tax return .6 

IS. 112.3 11 (1), F.S. 
2 S. I I2.3 11 (4), F.S. 
3 FLA CONST., art. II , ss. 8(a) and 8(i)(2). 
4 FLA CONST., art. II , s. 8(a) 
5 FLA. CONST., art . II , s. 8(i)( l ), (2) . 
6 1d. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021 .APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/3/2017 

PAGE : 2 



Pursuant to general law, the Florida Commission on Ethics (Commission) has prescribed by rule 
FORM 6 to be used to make the required full and public financial disclosure.7 

Accord ing to the Commission , and as articulated on the form , individuals holding the following 
positions must file FORM 6: governor; lieutenant governor; cabinet members; legislators; state 
attorneys; public defenders; clerks of circuit courts ; sheriffs; tax collectors; property appraisers; 
supervisors of elections; county commissioners; elected superintendents of schools; district 
school board members; Jacksonville City Council members (including mayor); compensation 
claims judges; Duval County superintendent of schools; Florida Housing Finance Corporation 
Board members; Florida Prepaid College Board members; and each expressway authority, 
transportation authority (except the Jacksonville Transportation Authority) , bridge authority, or 
toll authority created pursuant to Chapter 348 or 343, F.S., or any other general law. 

Reporting individuals are required to file FORM 6 annually with the Commission by July 1. Additionally, 
candidates for a constitutional office are required to make a full and public disclosure of their financial 
interests at the time of qualifying.8 

While elected city commissioners may have similar authority and spending power as county 
commissioners and other public officers that are required to file FORM 6, state law only requires city 
commissioners to file FORM 1, which is a less detailed form of financial disclosure.9 Elected municipal 
officers, and candidates for such office, must file this form at the time of qualifying and annually by July 
1. 

Florida law10requires municipalities to annually submit a financial report to the Department of Financial 
Services. The Department of Financial Services in turn verifies the data and publishes a report on its 
website showing, among other things, municipal revenues 11

, expenditures, and long-term debt. 12 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires all city commissioners serving municipalities with $5 mill ion or more in total 
revenue to file the more detailed Form 6 annually, beginning with the 2017 filing year. 

The bill also requires a candidate for city commission in a municipality with $5 million or more in 
total revenue to file a Form 6 with his or her qualifying papers. 

For purposes of these requirements , whether a municipality has $5 million or more in total 
revenue will be determined based on the municipality's annual financial report filed with the 
Department of Financial Services for the fiscal year immediately prior to the year the financial 
disclosure covers. 

Based on data provided by the Department of Financial Services, the number of municipalities 
that reported $5 million or more in total revenue were the following: 

• FY 2013 (October 1, 2012- September 30, 2013)- 254 
• FY 2014 (October 1, 2013- September 30, 2014)- 253 

7 S. 11 2.3 144(5), F.S. 
8 S. 99.06 1, F.S . 
9 S. 11 2.3 145, F.S. 
10 S. 2 18.32, F.S . 
11 According to the Department of Financial Services, For purposes of the annual financial reporting req uirement, 'revenue' includes 
Ad Valorem Taxes; Local Option Taxes; Utility Service Taxes; Local Business Taxes, Permits, Fees and Special Assessments; 
Federal, State and Local Grants; State Revenue Sharing; Service Charges; Court Filing Fees, Fines and Forfeitures; Interest and 
Dividends; Increase in Fair Value oflnvestments; Rents and Royalties; Sale of Surplus Materials; Contributions and Donations; 
Settlements; Other Misce ll aneous Revenues." 
12 ld . 
STORAGE NAME: h7021.APC.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 3/3/2017 



• FY 2015 (October 1, 2014- through September 30, 2015)- 257 

Conflicting Employment or Contractual Relationships (Section 2) 

Current Law 

The Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees (Code) prohibits a public officer or 
agency employee from having an employment or contractual relationship with a business entity 
or agency that is subject to the regulation of, or is doing business with, his or her agency. 13 The 
law further prohibits a public officer or agency employee from having an employment or a 
contractual relationship that will create a continuing or frequently recurring conflict between his 
or her private interests and the performance of his or her public duties or that would impede the 
full and faithful discharge of his or her public duties. 14 

However, the Code does contain the exceptions to these prohibitions relating to special taxing 
districts and drainage districts 15

; legislative bodies where regulatory power resides in another 
agency or is strictly through enactment of laws or ordinances 16

; and lawful or required practice 
in particular profession or occupation 17

. The Code also contains several exemptions to these 
prohibitions relating to appointed advisory board members 18

; when business transactions in a 
county or municipality are transacted under a rotation system 19

; business is awarded under a 
system of sealed, competitive bidding and certain criteria is mee0

; purchases or sales for legal 
advertising, utilities service, passage on a common carrie,-21

; emergency purchases that must 
be made to protect public health, safety, or welfare22

; the business entity involved is the only 
source of supply within the political subdivision and there is full disclosure by the officer or 

13 S. 11 2.313(7), F.S. 
14ld. 
15 "When the agency referred to is that certain kind of special tax district created by general or special law and is limited specifically to 
constructing, maintaining, managing, and financing improvements in the land area over which the agency has jurisdiction, or when the 
agency has been organized pursuant to chapter 298, then employment with, or entering into a contractual relationship with, such 
business entity by a public officer or employee of such agency shall not be prohibited by this subsection or be deemed a conflict per 
se. However, conduct by such officer or employee that is prohibited by, or otherwise frustrates the intent of, this section shall be 
deemed a conflict of interest in violation of the standards of conduct set forth by this section." See s. 112.313(7)((a) 1., F.S. 
16 " When the agency referred to is a legis lative body and the regulatory power over the business entity resides in another agency, or 
when the regulatory power which the legislative body exercises over the business entity or agency is strictly through the enactment of 
laws or ordinances, then employment or a contractual relationship with such business entity by a public officer or employee of a 
legis lative body shall not be prohibited by this subsection or be deemed a conflict." See s. 112.313(7)(a)2. , F.S. 
17 "This subsection shall not prohibit a public officer or employee from practicing in a particular profession or occupation when such 
practice by persons holding such public office or employment is required or permitted by law or ordinance." Sees. 112.313(7)(b ), F.S. 
18 "The requirements of subsections (3) and (7) as they pertain to persons serving on advisory boards may be waived in a particular 
instance by the body which appointed the person to the advisory board, upon a full disclosure of the transaction or relationship to the 
appointing body prior to the waiver and an affirmative vote in favor of waiver by two-thirds vote of that body. In instances in which 
appointment to the advisory board is made by an individual, waiver may be effected, after public hearing, by a determination by the 
appointing person and full disclosure of the transaction or relationship by the appointee to the appointing person." See 112.313( 12) , 
F.S . 
19 "Within a city or county the business is transacted under a rotation system whereby the business transactions are rotated among all 
~ualified suppliers of the goods or services within the city or county." See 112.313(12)(a), F.S. 
2 "The business is awarded under a system of sea led, competitive bidding to the lowest or best bidder and : (I) the official or the 
official's spouse or child has in no way participated in the determination of the bid specifications or the determination of the lowest or 
best bidder; (2) the official or the official's spouse or child has in no way used or attempted to use the official's influence to persuade 
the agency or any personnel thereof to enter such a contract other than by the mere submission of the bid; and (3) the official, prior to 
or at the time of the submission of the bid, has filed a statement with the Commission on Ethics, if the official is a state officer or 
employee, or with the supervisor of elections of the county in which the agency has its principal office, if the official is an officer or 
employee of a political subdivision, disclosing the official's interest, or the interest of the official's spouse or child, and the nature of 
the intended business." See 112.313(12)(b), F.S. 
21 S. 112.313(12)(c),F.S. 
22 S. 112.313(12)(d), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021.APC.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 3/3/2017 



employee23
; when the aggregate of such transactions does not exceed $500 in a calendar 

yea~4 ; when business transacted is the deposit of agency funds in a bank of which a county, 
city, or district official is an officer, director, or stockholder, so long as agency records show that 
the governing body has determined that the member did not favor his or her bank over other 
qualified banks25

; when the public officer or employee purchases in a private capacity goods or 
services from an entity regulated by, or doing business with, his or her agency, at a price and 
under terms available to similarly situated members of the general public26

, and when elected 
public officer is employed by a tax exempt organization contracting with his or her agency and 
officer's employment is not directly or indirectly compensated as a result of such contract or business 
relationship, the officer has in no way participated in the agency's decision to contract or to enter 
into the business relationship with his or her employer, whether by participating in discussion at 
the meeting, by communicating with officers or employees of the agency, or otherwise, and the 
officer abstains from voting on any matter which may come before the agency involving the 
officer's employer, publicly states to the assembly the nature of the officer's interest in the 
matter from which he or she is abstaining, and files the required written memorandum27

. 

In its annual reports to the Legislature for the past several years, the Commission has 
recommended the law be amended. Specifically, the Commission has advised that, under the 
law, a public officer or agency employee may create a fictitious legal entity and subsequently 
use the entity to enter into an employment or contractual relationship that would be prohibited if 
the public officer or agency employee acted as an individual. 28 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill provides that if a public officer or employee of an agency holds a material interest in a 
business entity or is an officer, a director, or a member who manages such an entity, contractual 
relationships held by the business entity are deemed to be held by the public officer or 
employee. As such, if a public officer or employee holds a material interest in a business entity 
other than a publicly traded entity, or is an officer, a director, or a member who manages such 
an entity, it would be a violation for the business entity to have a contractual relationship that will 
create a continuing or frequently recurring conflict between his or her private interests and the 
performance of his or her public duties or that would impede the full and faithful discharge of his 
or her public duties. 

The bill uses the current law definition of 'material interest' which means "direct or indirect 
ownership of more than five percent of the total assets or capital stock of any business entity. 
For the purposes of this act, indirect ownership does not include ownership by a spouse or 
minor child. " 

Mandatory Annual Ethics Training (Sections 3, 5, 6, and 7) 

Current Law 

Current Florida law requires 'constitutional officers' and elected municipal officers to annually 
complete four hours of eth ics training that, at a minimum, addresses s. 8, Art. II of the state 
constitution , the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees (Code), and the Florida law 
on public records and public meetings.29 

23 S. 11 2.3 13(12)(e), F.S. 
24 S. 11 2.3 13(12){f), F.S. 
25 S. 11 2.3 13(12)(g), F.S. 
26 S. 112.3 13(12)(i), U), F.S. 
27 S. ll 2.313( 15), F.S. 
28 Florida Commission on Ethics 20 17 Legislative Proposals. 
29 S. I 12.3142 , F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021 .APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/3/2017 

PAGE: 5 



3o Id. 

Pursuant to the Code, the term 'constitutional officer' includes the following officers: the 
Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, the Attorney General, the Chief Financial Officer, the 
Commissioner of Agriculture, state attorneys, public defenders, sheriffs, tax collectors, property 
appraisers, supervisors of elections, clerks of the circuit court, county commissioners, district 
school board members, and superintendents of schools.30 

Each officer that is subject to the annual ethics training requirement must certify on his or her 
disclosure of financial interests reporting form that he or she has completed the required 
training .31 However, the Commission does not collect any information on the provider(s) of such 
training . 

Although special districe2 governing board members are covered by the Code's provisions, 
state law does not require these individuals to receive annual ethics training . 

Additionally, the Code requires the Commission to adopt rules establishing minimum course 
content for the portion of an ethics training class which addresses the constitutional ethics 
provisions and the Code. The Commission 's current rule33 requires course content to include 
one or more of the following subjects: 

• Doing business with one's own agency; 
• Conflicting employment or contractual relationships; 
• Misuse of position; 
• Disclosure or use of certain information; 
• Gifts and honoraria , including solicitation and acceptance of gifts, and unauthorized 

compensation; 
• Post-officeholding restrictions; 
• Restrictions on the employment of relatives; 
• Voting conflicts when the constitutional officer is a member of a collegial body and votes in 

his or her official capacity; 
• Financial disclosure requirements, including the automatic fine and appeal process; 
• Commission procedures on ethics complaints and referrals; and 
• The importance of and process for obtaining advisory opinions rendered by the 

Commission. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires special district governing board members (elected and appointed) and water 
management district board members to receive annual ethics training which , at a minimum, 
addresses s. 8, Art. II of the state constitution , the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 
Employees (Code), and the Florida law on public records and public meetings. 

Beginning January 1, 2018, the bill also requires each officer subject to the annual ethics 
training requirement to provide the training provider's name on his or her annual financial 
disclosure form. 

31 SS. 112.3 144( 1) and 112.3 145(4), F.S . 
32 Section 189.0 12(6), F.S. , defines a 'specia l di strict ' as "a unit of loca l government created for a special purpose, as opposed to a 
general purpose, which has jurisdiction to operate within a limited geographic boundary and is created by general law, special act, 
local ordinance, or by rule of the Governor and Cabinet. The term does not include a school district, a community college district, a 
special improvement district created pursuant to s. 285 .17, a municipal service tax ing or benefit unit as specified in s. 125.0 1, or a 
board which prov ides electri ca l service and which is a politi ca l subdivision of a mun icipa lity or is part of a municipality." 
33 Rule 34-7.02 5, F.A.C. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021 .APC.DOCX PAGE : 6 
DATE : 3/3/2017 



Finally, the bill repeals the statutory requirement that the Commission adopt a rule on minimum 
course content into statute, and instead codifies the Commission's current rule in statute. 

Voting Conflicts of Interest (Section 4) 

Current Law 

Florida law prohibits a county officer, municipal officer, or other local public officer, from voting 
on any measure that would inure to his or her special private gain or loss; which he or she 
knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of any principal by whom he or she is 
retained or to the parent organization or subsidiary of a corporate principal by which he or she is 
retained; or which he or she knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of a relative or 
business associate of the public officer.34 

In such cases, the officer is required, prior to the vote being taken, to publicly state to the 
assembly the nature of the officer's interest in the matter from which he or she is abstaining and, 
within 15 days after the vote occurs, disclose the nature of his or her interest as a public record 
in a memorandum filed with the person responsible for recording the minutes of the meeting. 

While the law prohibits the officer from voting on the measure, the officer is not prohibited from 
participating in the measure and is not explicitly required to disclose his or her conflict prior to 
his or her participation. 

Pursuant to current law, the term 'public officer' includes any person elected or appointed to 
hold office in any agency, including any person serving on an advisory body. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires a county officer, municipal officer, other local public officer, governing board 
member of a special district or school district, or appointed public officer who must abstain from 
voting on a measure due to a conflict of interest to disclose the conflict prior to participating on 
the measure. 

Collection Methods for Unpaid Financial Disclosure Fines (Section 8) 

Current Law 

The Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees (Code) authorizes the Commission to withhold 
wages and seek garnishment in order to collect unpaid financial disclosure fines .35 Prior to referring 
such a fine to the Department of Financial Services (DFS), the Commission must attempt to determine 
whether the filer is a current public officer or employee. 36 If the person is currently a public officer or 
employee, the Commission may notify the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) or the governing body of the 
appropriate county, municipality, or special district of the total amount of the fine owed to the 
Commission by the individual. After receipt and verification of the notice from the Commission, the CFO 
or the appropriate governing body is required to begin withholding the lesser of ten percent or the 
maximum amount allowed under federal law from any salary-related payment. The withheld payments 
must be remitted to the Commission until the fine is satisfied . Additionally, the CFO or appropriate 
governing body may retain an amount from each withheld payment to cover administrative costs 
incurred to comply with these requirements. In the event that the Commission determines the individual 
owing a fine is no longer a public officer or employee or if the Commission is unable to make such a 
determination, the Commission must wait for six months after the order becomes final. After that period 

34 S.112 .3143, F.S. 
35 S. 112.31455, F.S. 
36 S. 112.31455(l),F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021 .APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/3/2017 

PAGE: 7 



of time, the Commission may seek garnishment. Additionally, the Commission may refer the unpaid 
fine to a collection agency. 37 The collection agency may utilize any collection methods provided by law. 
The statute of limitations for an unpaid financial disclosure fine is 20 years. 38 Once recovered, 
previously unpaid financial disclosure fines are deposited into general revenue. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill expressly requires school districts to withhold public salary-related payments after receiving 
notice from the Commission that an employee has an unpaid fine, including a portion to cover any 
administrative costs incurred by the school district to comply with the requirement. 

Lobbying Before Governmental Entities (Sections 9 and 1 0) 

Current Law 

Florida law requires a person who wishes to lobby the executive branch to register as a lobbyist with 
the Commission prior to lobbying.39 Similarly, the Florida Legislature, by rule, requires a lobbyist who 
wishes to lobby either house of the legislature to register with the Lobbyist Registration Office in the 
Office of Legislative Services. 40 In addition to these registration requirements, lobbying firms must file 
quarterly compensation reports for each quarter in which at least one of their lobbyists were registered 
to represent a principal. 41 

As of February 2017, there were over 1,300 lobbyists registered to lobby the executive branch on 
behalf of over 3,300 principals, representing over 8,900 total registrations.42 As of February 2017, there 
were over 1 ,800 lobbyists registered to lobby the legislature on behalf of over 3,600 principals, 
representing over 10,000 total registrations.43 In total, there were over 150 lobbyists registered to lobby 
only the executive branch, over 600 registered to lobby only the legislature, and over 1,200 registered 
to lobby both the executive branch and the legislature.44 Currently, the executive branch has 1.5 FTEs 
to administer registrations, including oath authorization , and compensation reports. The legislature has 
2 FTEs to administer registrations and compensation reports . 

Each lobbyist registration program has a dedicated trust fund whereby registration fees must be used 
to administer the program. The executive branch lobbyist registration fee is $25 per principal, although 
by statute, the fee may be up to $40 per principal.45 The legislature's annual lobbyist registration fee is 
$50 for the first registration and $20 for each additional registration . If a lobbyist is registering before 
only one chamber, the annual fee is $25 for the first registration and $10 for each additional 
registration. As of February 2017, the Executive Branch Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund had 
$1 ,135,123 cash on hand, while the Legislative Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund had $1 ,379,440 cash 
on hand. 

37 S. 11 2.31455(3), F.S. 
38 S. 11 2.31455(4), F.S . 
39 S. 11 2.32 15, F.S. 
40 Joint Rule 1.1 (I ) 
41 SS. 11.045(3)(a)l. and 11 2.32 15(5)(a) l. , F.S. 
42 See statistics on registered lobbyists on the Florida Lobbyist Registra tion & Compensation website at www. floridalobbyist.gov (last 
viewed 2/24/20 17). 
43 Id. 
44 Id . 
45 Rule 34-1 2.200, F.A.C. , implementing s. 112.32 15(4), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021 .APC.DOCX PAGE: 8 
DATE: 3/3/2017 



Executive Branch Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund 
FY 06- FY 07- FY 08-09 FY 09- 10 FY 10-11 FYII-12 FY12-1 3 FY 13- 14 FY 14-1 5 FY 15-1 6 
07 08 

Beginning Cash 595 ,084 631,757 733 ,949 833,08 1 90 I ,796 944,303 I ,002, 123 I ,052 ,5 16 I ,060 ,646 967 ,265 
Balance 
Revenues Collected 182,600 20 I ,525 20 I ,025 189,5 15 194,175 205,025 201,825 230 ,530 261 ,830 254,250 
Disbursements 145,927 99,333 101 ,893 120 ,800 151,668 147,206 15 1,432 222 ,400 355 ,2 10 2 16,183 
Excess (Defic iency) 36,673 102 ,192 99,132 68,715 42,507 57,8 19 50,393 8, 130 (93,380) 38,067 
of Revenue over 
Disbursements 
Ending Cash 63 1,757 733,949 833 ,08 1 90 1,796 944,303 I ,002, 123 I ,052,516 I ,060,646 967,265 I ,005,333 
Balance 

Legislative Branch Lobbyist Re istration Trust Fund 
FY 06- FY 07- FY 08-09 FY 09-1 0 FY 10- 11 FY II-1 2 FY I2-13 FY 13-14 FY 14-1 5 FY 15-16 
07 08 

Beginning Cash 792,074 797,934 838,507 889,603 936,720 993,658 1, 11 7,279 I ,230,248 I ,270,080 I ,230,775 
Balance 
Revenues Collected 254,137 252 ,435 256,746 245,680 246,545 260 ,580 247,845 265 ,830 278 ,600 283 ,355 
Disbursements 248,277 2 11 ,862 205,650 198,563 189,606 136,959 134,877 225,998 317,905 223 ,197 
Excess (Deficiency) 5,860 40,573 51 ,096 47,117 56,938 123 ,62 1 11 2,968 39,832 (39,305) 60, 158 
of Revenue over 
Disbursements 
Ending Cash 797 ,934 838,507 889,603 936,720 993 ,658 1, 11 7,279 I ,230,248 I ,270,080 I ,230,775 I ,290,933 
Balance 

During the 2016 Organization Session, the Florida House of Representatives adopted its rules for the 
2016-2018 term. Rule 17.1(h) requires lobbyists to disclose the issues upon which they intend to 
lobby the House, while Rule 17.1 (i) requires disclosure of public entity lobbying contracts. As of 
February 2017, over 1,100 lobbyists have disclosed over 22,000 issues on behalf of over 2,300 
principals, while over 350 public entity lobbying contracts have been submitted by over 70 lobbying 
firms. The Public Integrity & Ethics Committee has one full-time staff member to assist with issue and 
contract disclosures. 

As of 2014, Florida law requires a lobbyist who wishes to lobby before one of Florida 's five water 
management districts to register as a lobbyist with said district.46 The law requires the applicable water 
management district to make lobbyist registrations available to the public, including on its website if the 
district maintains one.47 To administer the registration process, each water management district is 
authorized to charge a registration fee of up to $40 per principal.48 The Southwest Florida Water 
Management District (SFWMD) developed its lobbyist registration system database in-house and 
administers each of the other four water management district lobbyist registration programs at no 
charge to the water management district or registered lobbyist(s). 

Florida has 67 counties, 400+ municipalities, and over 1 ,500 special districts. While the Florida Code of 
Ethics for Public Officers and Employees provides minimum standards of conduct and disclosure for 
officers and employees covered under the Code, local governments have authority to enact ordinances 
providing for more stringent standards - provided these ordinances do not conflict with the Code's 
provisions.49 At least 13 counties50 have ordinances requiring lobbyists to register, report 
compensation, or both. An informal staff review uncovered at least 26 municipalities with ordinances 
requiring lobbyists to register with the municipality prior to lobbying. However, the total number of 
counties, municipalities, or special districts that require lobbyist registration is unknown. 

46 S. 112.3261 , F.S. 
47 Id . 
48 Id . 
49 S. 112.326, F.S. 
50 Alachua, Broward, Collier, Duval, Hillsborough, Lake, Lee, Leon, Miami-Dade, Orange, Palm Beach, Pinellas, and St. Lucie 
counties. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/3/2017 

PAGE : 9 



Effect of Proposed Changes 

Beginning October 1, 2018, the bill requires a person to electronically register as a lobbyist with the 
Commission prior to lobbying a 'governmental entity.' Under the bill 's provisions, a 'governmental 
entity,' includes a county, municipality, water management district, school district, hospital district, 
children's services district, expressway authority, port authority, or special district.51 

The bill also provides definitions for the terms 'lobby,' 'lobbies,' and 'lobbyist. ' Pursuant to the bill's 
provisions, the term 'lobby' or 'lobbies' does not include making application for or seeking approval of 
an application for a license, permit, or waiver of a regulation so long as the issuance or granting of such 
application does not require legislative discretion. Among other exclusions, the term 'lobbyist' does not 
include a person who lobbies to procure a contract which is less than $20,000 or a contract procured 
pursuant to s. 287.056, F.S., which is the state purchasing agreement and state term contract 
procurement statute. 

The bill requires the lobbyist to disclose his or her name, email address, business address, the name 
and business address of each registered principal, and each local governmental entity he or she 
intends to lobby on behalf of each principal. The bill also requires the lobbyist to disclose the existence 
of any direct or indirect business association, partnership, or financial relationship with an official or 
employee of the governmental entity he or she intends to lobby. 

To administer the registration program, the bill requires the Commission to establish a registration fee 
by rule. Pursuant to the bill 's provisions, the fee may not exceed $40 per principal. 

If the Commission receives a first complaint against any person, or receives any complaint prior to 
January 1, 2020, the bill requires the Commission to issue a warning letter directing the person who is 
the subject of the complaint to the obligations of lobbyists under the local government lobbyist 
registration provision. The Commission must dismiss the complaint. Outside of these two instances, if 
the Commission finds a person to have violated the registration requirement, the bill provides for a civil 
penalty not to exceed $500 for a first violation. A second or subsequent violation committed within 
twelve months after a first violation has occurred will subject the lobbyist to a civil penalty between 
$1000 or, at the governmental entity's discretion, a one year suspension from lobbying the entity 
associated with the violation. 

By January 1, 2018, the bill requires each local governmental entity that has an ordinance or rule 
placing more stringent obligations with respect to lobbyist registration, reporting, or other lobbyist 
conduct to forward the Commission a copy of such ordinance and any associated form that has been 
designated to facilitate compliance with such ordinance or rule. By January 1, 2019, the bill requires 
each local governmental entity to conform its registration system, if any, to accommodate regular 
receipt of lobbyist registration data from the Commission. This data exchange will assist each local 
governmental entity in retaining whatever more stringent standards it has in place. 

Commission on Ethics Advisory Opinions (Section 11) 

Current Law 

Florida law requires the Commission to render a binding advisory opinion to any public officer, 
candidate for public office, or public employee, in doubt about the applicability and interpretation of the 

51 Section 189.0 12(6), F.S. , defines a ' special district ' as "a unit of local government created for a special purpose, as opposed to a 
general purpose, which has jurisdiction to operate within a limited geographic boundary and is created by general law, special act, 
local ordinance, or by rule of the Governor and Cabinet. The term does not include a school district, a community college district, a 
special improvement district created pursuant to s. 285.17, a municipal service taxing or benefit unit as specified in s. 125.01 , or a 
board which provides electrical service and which is a political subdivision of a municipality or is part of a municipality." 
STORAGE NAME: h7021.APC.DOCX PAGE: 10 
DATE: 3/3/2017 



state constitution's ethics provisions or the provisions of the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 
Public Employees (Code) to himself or herself in a particular context.52 

Since 2010, the Commission has issued the following numbers of advisory opinions: 

• CY 2016-15 opinions (13 by local officers, employees, or local government attorneys) 
• CY 2015-15 opinions (12 by local officers, employees, or local government attorneys) 
• CY 2014-32 opinions (12 by local officers, employees, or local government attorneys) 
• CY 2013 - 26 opinions ( 19 by local officers, employees, or local government attorneys) 
• CY 2012 - 23 opinions ( 15 by local officers, employees, or local government attorneys) 
• CY 2011 - 24 opinions (24 by local officers, employees, or local government attorneys) 
• CY 2010 - 25 opinions (21 by local officers, employees, or local government attorneys) 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill expands the Commission 's duty to render advisory opinions to include the new provisions and 
changes to current law made by the bill. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1 amends s. 99.061, F.S., relating to the method of qualifying for nomination or election to 
federal, state, county, or district office. 

Section 2 amends s. 112.313, F.S. , relating to standards of conduct for public officers, employees of 
agencies, and local government attorneys. 

Section 3 amends s. 112.3142, F.S., relating to ethics training for specified constitutional officers and 
elected municipal officers. 

Section 4 amends s. 112.3143, F.S. , relating to voting conflicts. 

Section 5 amends s. 112.3144, F.S., relating to full and public disclosure of financial interests. 

Section 6 amends s. 112.3145, F.S., relating to disclosure of financial interests and clients represented 
before agencies. 

Section 7 provides that certain changes made by the act relating to financial disclosure apply to 
disclosures filed for the 2017 calendar year and all subsequent calendar years. 

Section 8 amends s. 112.31455, F.S., relating to collection methods for unpaid automatic fines for 
failure to timely file disclosure of financial interests. 

Section 9 repeals s. 112.3261 , F.S., relating to lobbying before certain government entities. 

Section 10 creates s. 112.32612, F.S. , relating to lobbying before governmental entities. 

Section 11 expands the duties of the Commission on Ethics to include rendering advisory opinions. 

Section 12 specifies that the act fulfills an important state interest. 

Section 13 provides an effective date. 

52 S. 11 2.322(3) , F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h7021 .APC.DOCX 
DATE : 3/3/2017 

PAGE: 11 



II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

The bill requires the Commission to establish an annual registration fee, effective October 1, 2018, 
to administer the local government lobbyist registration system. Pursuant to the bill 's provisions, the 
registration fee may not exceed $40 per principal. The revenue generated from annual registrations 
will be used to administer the registration program, including the payment of salaries and other 
expenses. 

2. Expenditures: 

The bill requires elected municipal officers serving municipalities with $5 million or more in total 
revenue to file FORM 6 in lieu of the currently required FORM 1. The expense to the Commission 
associated with mailing these individuals FORM 6 instead of FORM 1 is indeterminate, but likely 
insignificant and can be absorbed by current resources. 

The bill requires a lobbyist to register with the Commission prior to lobbying certain local 
governmental entities, effective October 1, 2018. The Commission is required to make these 
reg istrations public on its website. Expenses associated with administering the registration process 
will not be incurred until fiscal year 2018. However, the Office of Legislative Information 
Technology Services projects the cost to develop an online system, to track and report such 
registrations, is approximately $465,000, the bulk of which will be expended in fiscal year 2017-18. 
The Commission has sufficient carryforward funds to cover any such expenses until revenues from 
fees are received. 

The bill also requires the Commission to render advisory opinions regarding the Code of Ethics and 
its application to any public officer, candidate for public office, or public employee as a result of the 
bill 's provisions. The fiscal impact to the Commission of this requirement is indeterminate, but likely 
insignificant. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

By January 1, 2018, the bill requires each local governmental entity that has an ordinance or rule 
placing more stringent obligations with respect to lobbyist registration, reporting, or other lobbyist 
conduct to forward the Commission a copy of such ordinance and any associated form that has 
been designated to facilitate compliance with such ordinance or rule. By January 1, 2019, the bill 
requires each local governmental entity to conform its registration system, if any, to accommodate 
regular receipt of lobbyist registration data from the Commission . This data exchange will assist 
each local governmental entity in retaining whatever more stringent standards it has in place. The 
fiscal impact on local governments with respect to these provisions is indeterminate. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

The bill 's provisions require a person who wishes to lobby certain local governmental entities to register 
with the Commission. The bill also requires the Commission to establish an annual lobbyist registration 
fee , up to $40 for each principal represented . The extent to which a lobbyist or lobbying firm will pass 
the registration costs on to principals, some of which may be private sector entities, is unknown, but 
likely insignificant. 

STORAGE NAME: h7021.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/3/2017 

PAGE: 12 



D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

The county/municipality mandates provision of Art. VII , s. 18 of the State Constitution may apply 
because the bill requires county and municipal governments with ordinances or rules placing more 
stringent obligations with respect to lobbyist registration, reporting, or other lobbyist conduct to 
forward the Commission a copy of such ordinance and any associated form that has been 
designated to facilitate compliance with such ordinance or rule. By January 1, 2019, the bill requires 
each local governmental entity to conform its registration system, if any, to accommodate regular 
receipt of lobbyist registration data from the Commission . An exemption may apply if the bill results 
in an insignificant fiscal impact to county or municipal governments. In addition, the bill includes 
legislative findings that the bill fulfills important state interests and the bill applies to all persons 
similarly situated. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The bill requires the Commission to adopt rules to establish procedures to govern the electronic 
registration of lobbyists, including the adoption of forms and the exchange of information with local 
governmental entities. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

On Tuesday, February 14, 2017, the Public Integrity & Ethics Committee adopted a strike-all 
amendment to PCB PIE 17-03 and subsequently reported the bill favorably as amended. The strike-all 
amendment made several revisions to PCB PIE 17-03, including the following: 

• Revised the phrases "each candidate for an elected municipal office" and "elected municipal 
officer" to "each candidate for the governing body of a municipality" and "every member of the 
governing board of a municipality," respectively , to ensure the provision only captures city 
commissioners and not other elected municipal officers. 

• Revised the phrase "municipality that had $5 million or more in total revenue as determined by 
the most recent annual financial report submitted to the Department of Financial Services in 
accordance with s. 218.32" to "municipality that had $5 million or more in total revenue as 
determined by the annual financial report submitted to Department of Financial Services in 
accordance with s. 218.32 for the fiscal year ending prior to the year the disclosure covers ." 

• Broaden the scope of the provision requiring elected special district governing board members 
to complete 4 hours of annual ethics training to also include appointed special district governing 
board members and water management district board members. 

• Revised the provision on providing ethics training information to only require the training 
provider's name in lieu of requiring the training provider's name and the date the training was 
completed. 

STORAGE NAME: h7021.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/3/2017 

PAGE : 13 



• Removed the provision allowing the general counsel of an agency or entity having an officer 
subject to the ethics training requirement to provide ethics training provider information on 
behalf of the officer. 

• Revised the provision requiring a lobbyist who wishes to lobby a local governmental entity to 
register as a lobbyist with the Commission by: 

o Requiring electronic registration; 
o Including all special districts and not just independent special districts in the definition of 

'governmental entity'. 
o Providing the term "lobby" or "lobbies" does not include making application for or seeking 

approval of an application for a license, permit, or waiver of a regulation so long as the 
issuance or granting of such application does not require legislative discretion. 

o Requiring a lobbyist to provide his or her email address upon registering . 
o Requiring the Commission to make local government lobbyist registration available on 

the Internet rather than specific the information must be available on the Commission's 
website. 

o Requiring the Commission to issue a warning letter and dismiss a first complaint or any 
complaint received before January 1, 2020, for a lobbyist's failure to register. 

o Revising the term "fine" to "civil penalty." 
o Revises the civil penalty for a second or subsequent violation from "not to exceed 

$1 ,000" to "not less than $200 and not greater than $1 ,000. " 
o Authorizing, but not requiring, local government entities to impose additional civil 

penalties for a second or subsequent violation. 
o Authorizing a person who is unsure whether he or she is required to register as a 

lobbyist to request a binding advisory opinion from the Commission. 

STORAGE NAME: h7021.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/3/2017 

PAGE: 14 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7021 2017 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to local government ethics reform ; 

3 amending s . 99 . 06 1 , F . S . ; requiring certain candidates 

4 for the governing body of a municipality to file a 

5 full and public financial disclosure upon qualifying ; 

6 amending s . 112 . 313 , F . S . ; providing that contractual 

7 relationships held by business entities are deemed 

8 held by public off i cers or employees in certa in 

9 situations ; amending s. 112 . 3142 , F . S .; requiring 

10 certain ethics training for governing board members of 

11 spec i al districts and water management districts ; 

12 a u thorizing certain continuing education to satisfy 

13 the ethics train ing requirement ; deleting a 

14 requirement that the Commissi on on Ethi cs adopt 

15 certain rules relating to ethics training class course 

16 content ; providing course content requirements; 

17 encouraging train i ng providers to seek accreditat ion ; 

18 amending s . 112 . 31 43 , F.S .; prohibiting governing 

19 board members of special districts or school districts 

20 from voting in an o fficial capacity on specified 

21 matters ; prohibiting county , municipal , or other local 

22 public officers or governing board members of special 

23 districts or school districts from part i c ipati ng in 

24 

25 

s p ec i fied matters ; amending s. 112 . 3144 , F . S. ; 

requiring certain governing board members of 

Page 1 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7021 2017 

26 municipalities to fi l e a full and public disclosure of 

27 financial interests ; providing disclosure 

28 requirements ; amending s. 112.3145 , F.S. ; providing 

29 disclosure requirements ; providing applicability ; 

30 amending s . 112 . 31455 , F . S .; applying provisions 

31 relating to collecting unpaid fines for failing to 

32 file such disclosures to school districts ; p r oviding 

33 for the future repeal of s . 1 12 . 3261 , F.S. , relating 

3 4 to registration and reporting for lobbying water 

35 management d i stricts ; creating s . 112.32 612 , F. S .; 

36 providing definitions ; requiring lobbyists to register 

37 with the commission befo r e lobbying governmental 

38 entities ; providing registration requirements ; 

39 p r oviding responsibilities of the commission ; 

40 prov i d i ng civil penalties ; authorizing t h e s u spension 

41 of certain lobbyists ; providing responsibilities of 

42 the governmental entity ; autho r izing the commission to 

43 adopt rules ; requ iring the commission to render 

44 advisory op i nions under certain conditions ; declaring 

45 that the act fulfills an important state interest ; 

46 providing effective dates. 

47 

48 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Flor i da : 

49 

50 Sec t ion 1 . Subsection (5) of section 99.061, Florida 

Page 2 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7021 2017 

51 Statutes, is amended to read: 

52 99 . 061 Method of qualifying for nomination or election to 

53 federal, state, county , municipal , or district office . -

54 (5) At the time of qualifying for office , each cand idate 

55 for the governing body of a municipality that had $5 million or 

56 more in total revenue as determined by the annual financial 

57 report submitted to the Department of Financial Services in 

58 accordance with s . 218 . 32 for the fiscal year ending prior to 

59 the year the disclosure covers or a constitutional office shall 

60 file a full and public disclosure o f financi al interests 

61 pursuant to s . 8, Art. II of the State Constitution, which must 

62 be verified under oath or aff i rmation pursuant to s . 

63 92.525 (1 ) (a) , and a candidate for any other office , ineluding 

64 local elective office , shall file a statement of financ i al 

65 interests pursuant to s . 112 . 3145. 

66 Section 2 . Subsection (7) of section 112.313, Florida 

67 Statutes , is amended to read : 

68 112 . 313 Standards of conduct for public officers, 

69 employees of agencies , and local government attorneys . -

70 

71 

(7) CONFLICTING EMPLOYMENT OR CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP.

(a) ~ Ne public o fficer or employee of an agency may not 

72 shall have or hold any employment or contractual relationship 

7 3 with any business entity or any agency that '.Jhich is subject to 

74 the regulati o n of, or is doing business with, an agency of which 

75 he or she is an officer or employee, excluding those 

Page 3 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021 -00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7021 201 7 

76 organizations and their officers who , when acting in their 

77 official capacity , enter into or negotiate a collective 

78 bargaining contract with the state or any municipality , county , 

79 or other political subdivision of the state ; and nor shall an 

80 officer or employee of an agency may not have or hold any 

81 employment or contractua l relationship that will create a 

82 cont inuing or frequently recurring conflict between his or her 

83 private interests and the performance of his or her publ i c 

84 duties or that would impede the full and faithful discharge of 

85 his or her public duties . For purposes of thi s subsection , if a 

86 pub l ic officer or employee of an agency holds a material 

87 interest in a business entit y other than a publicly traded 

88 entity , or is an officer , a director , or a member who manages 

89 such an entity , any contractual relationship held by the 

90 business entity is deemed to be held by the public officer or 

91 employee of the agency . 

92 1 . When the agency referred to is a that certa in kind of 

93 special tax district created by general or special law and is 

94 limited specificall y to constructing , maintaining , managing , and 

95 financing improvements in the land area over which the agency 

96 has jurisdiction , or when the agency has been organized pursuant 

97 to chapter 298 , theft employment with , or entering into a 

98 cont ractual relationship with , such ~ business entity by a 

99 publ i c officer or employee of such an age n cy is shall not ee 
100 prohibited by this subsection or ee deemed a conflict per se . 

Page 4 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7021 2017 

101 However , conduct by such officer or employee that is prohibited 

102 by, or otherwise frustrates the intent of , this section must 

103 shall be deemed a conflict of interest in violation of the 

104 standards of conduct set forth by this section. 

105 2. When the agency referred to is a legislative body and 

106 the regulatory power over the business entity resides in another 

107 agency , or when the regulatory power that Hhieh the legislative 

108 body exercises over the business entity or agency is strictly 

109 through the enactment of laws or ordinances , tfiefi employment or 

110 a contractual relationship with such ~ business entity by a 

111 public o fficer or employee of a legislative body is shall not be 

112 prohibited by this subsection or be deemed a conflict . 

113 (b) This subsection does shall not prohibit a public 

114 officer or employee from practicing in a particular profession 

115 or occupation when such practice by persons holding such public 

116 office or employment is required or permitted by law or 

117 ordinance. 

118 Section 3. Subsection (2) of section 112 . 3142 , Florida 

119 Statutes, is amended to read: 

120 112.3142 Ethics training for specified constitutional 

121 officers~ ~ elected municipal officers , and members of a 

122 governing board of a special district or water management 

123 district .-

124 (2) (a) All constitutional officers must comp lete 4 hours 

125 of ethics training each calendar year which addresses , at a 

Page 5 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7021 201 7 

126 minimum, s . 8 , Art. II of the State Constitution, the Code of 

127 Ethics for Public Officers and Employees , and the public records 

128 and public meetings laws of this state. This requirement may be 

129 satisfied by completion of a continuing legal education class or 

130 other continuing professional educat i on c l ass, seminar, or 

131 presentation if the requ i red subjects are cove r ed . 

132 (b) Beg i nn i ng January 1 , 2015 , All elected municipal 

133 officers must complete 4 hours of eth i cs training each calendar 

134 year which addresses , at a min i mum , s. 8 , Art . II of the State 

135 Constitution , the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 

136 Employees , and the public records and public meetings laws o f 

137 this state . This requirement may be satisfied by completion of a 

138 continuing legal education class or other continuing 

139 professional education class , seminar , or presentation if the 

140 required s ub j ects are covered. 

141 

142 

143 

144 

145 

146 

147 

148 

(c) Beginning January 1, 2018 , all members of the 

governing board of a special district or water management 

district must complete 4 hours of ethics training each calendar 

year which addresses, at a minimum , s. 8 , Art . II of the State 

Constitution , the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 

Employees, and the public records and public meetings laws of 

this state . 

(d) The requirements specified in paragraphs (a) , (b), and 

149 (c) may be satisfied by completion of a continuing legal 

150 education class or other continuing professional education 

Page 6 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7021 

151 class , seminar , or presentation if the required subjects are 

152 covered . 

2017 

153 (e) The eoffiffi i ss i on shall adopt rules establishing ffiiniffiUffi 

154 Course content for the porti on of an ethics training class which 

155 addresses s . 8 , Art . I I of the State Constitution and the Code 

156 of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees must include one or 

157 more of the following : 

158 1 . Doing business with one ' s own agency ; 

159 2 . Conflicting employment or contractual relationships ; 

160 

161 

162 

3 . Misuse of position ; 

4 . Disclosure or use of certain information ; 

5 . Gifts and honoraria, including solicitation and 

163 acceptance of gifts , and unauthorized compensation ; 

164 6 . Post - officeholding restrictions ; 

165 

166 

7 . Restrictions on the employment of relatives ; 

8 . Voting conf licts if the officer is a member of a 

167 collegial body and votes in his or her official capacity ; 

168 9 . Financial disclosure requirements , including the 

169 automatic fine and appeal process ; 

170 10. Commission procedures on ethics complaints and 

171 referrals ; and 

172 11 . The importance of and process for obtaining advisory 

173 opinions rendered by the commission . 

174 (f) Training providers are encouraged to s~ek 

175 accreditation from any applicable licensing body for courses 

Page 7 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R 0 A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7021 2017 

176 offered pursuant to this subsection . 

177 lgl+cl+ The Legislature intends that a constitutional 

178 officer~ er elected mun i cipal officer , or member o f the 

17 9 governing board of a special district or water management 

180 district who is required t o complete ethics training pursuant to 

181 this section receive t he required training as close as possible 

182 to the date that he o r she assumes office . A constitutional 

183 office r~ er elected municipal officer , or member of the 

184 governing board of a special district or water management 

185 d i strict assuming a new office or new term of office on or 

186 before March 31 must complete the annua l trai ning on or before 

187 December 31 of the year in which the term of office began . A 

188 const itutional officer~ er elected municipal off i cer , or member 

189 of the governing board of a specia l district or water management 

190 district assuming a new office or new term of office after March 

1 91 31 is not required to comp l ete ethics training for the cal endar 

192 year in which the te rm of office began . 

193 Section 4 . Subsecti on s (3) and (4) of section 112 . 31 43, 

194 Florida Statutes , are amended to read : 

195 

196 

112 . 3143 Vot ing conf licts.-

( 3) (a) A Ne county , municipal , or other local public 

197 officer or governing board member of a special district or 

198 sch oo l district may not shall vote in an official capacity upon 

199 a ny measure which would inure to his or her special private gain 

200 or loss ; which he or she knows would inure to the special 

Page 8 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

201 

202 

203 

204 

205 

206 

207 

208 

209 

210 

211 

212 

213 

214 

2 15 

216 

217 

2 18 

219 

220 

221 

222 

223 

224 

225 

HB 7021 201 7 

private gain or loss of any principal by whom he or she is 

retained or to the parent organization or subsidiary of a 

corporate principal by which he or she is retained , other than 

an agency as defined ins . 112.312(2); or which he or she knows 

would inure to the special private gain or loss of a relat i ve or 

business associate of the publi c officer or board member. Such 

public officer or board member shall , prior to the vote being 

taken , publicly state to the assembly the nature of the 

officer ' s or member ' s interest in the matter from which he or 

she is abstaining from voting and , within 15 days after the vote 

occurs , dis c l ose the nature of his or her interest as a public 

record in a memorandum fil ed with the person responsible for 

recording the minutes of the meeting , who shall incorporate the 

memorandum in the minutes . 

(b) However , a commissioner of a community redevelopment 

agency created or designated pursuant to s . 163 . 356 or s. 

163 . 357 , or an office r of an independent special tax district 

elected on a one - acre , one - vote basis , is not prohibited from 

voting , when voting in said capacity. 

(4) A county , muni c ipal , other local public officer , 

governing board member of a special district or school district , 

o r Ne appointed public officer , may not shall participate in any 

matter which would inure to the office r ' s or member ' s special 

private gain or loss; which the off icer o r member knows would 

inure to the special private gain or loss of any principal by 

Page 9 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7021 

226 whom he or she is retained or to the parent organization or 

227 subsidiary of a corporate principal by which he or she is 

2017 

228 retained ; or which he or she knows would inure to the special 

229 private gain or loss of a relative or business associate of the 

230 public o ffi cer or board member , without first disclosing the 

231 nature of his or her interest in the matter . 

232 (a) Such disclosure , indicating the nature of the 

233 conflict , shall be made in a wr i tten memorandum filed with the 

234 person responsible for recording the minutes of the meeting , 

235 prior to the meeting in which cons ideration of the matter will 

236 take p l ace , and shall be incorporated into the minutes. Any such 

237 memorandum shall become a public record upon filing , shall 

238 immed i ately be provided to the other members o f the agency , and 

239 shall be read publicly at the next meeting held subsequent to 

2 40 the filing of this written memo randum. 

241 (b) In the e vent that disclosure has not been made prior 

242 to the meeting or that any conflict is unknown prior to the 

243 meeting , the disclosure shall be made orally at the meeting when 

244 it becomes known that a conflict exists . A written memorandum 

245 disclosing the nature o f the conflict shall then be filed within 

246 15 days a fter the ora l disclosure with the person responsible 

247 for recording the minutes of the meeting and shall be 

248 incorporated into the minutes of the meeting at which the oral 

249 disc l osure was made . Any such memorandum shall become a public 

250 record upon filing , shall immediately be provided to the other 

Page 10 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

251 

252 

253 

254 

255 

256 

257 

258 

HB 7021 

members of the agency , and shall be read publicly at the next 

meeting held subsequent to the filing of this written 

memorandum. 

(c) For purposes of this subsection , the term 

"participate " means any attempt to i nfluence the decision by 

oral or written communication , whether made by the officer or 

membe r or at the officer ' s or member ' s direction . 

Section 5 . Subsections (1) and (2) and paragraph (c) of 

259 subsection (8) of section 11 2 . 3144 , Florida Statutes , are 

2 60 amended to read : 

261 112 . 3144 Full and public disclosure of financial 

262 i nte res ts . -

201 7 

2 63 ( 1) In addition to o f fice r s specifi e d in s . 8 , Art . II of 

264 the State Constitut i on or any other state law , a member of the 

265 governing board of a mun i cipality that had $5 million or more in 

266 total revenue as determined by t h e annual financial report 

267 s ubmitted to the Depar tme n t of Financial Services in accordance 

268 with s . 218 . 32 for t h e fi scal year ending prior to the year t he 

269 disclosure covers is requ ired to file a full and public 

270 d i sc l osure of financial interests . An officer or a member who is 

271 requ i red by s . 8 , Art . II of t he State Const i tut i on to file a 

272 full and public disc l osure of h i s or he r f inancial interests for 

273 any calendar or fi scal year shall file that disclosure with the 

274 Flor i da Commi ssion on Ethics . }\dditi onally , be g inni ng Ja nua r y 1 , 

275 20 1 5 , An officer or a member who is required to complete annual 

Page 11 of21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7021 2017 

276 ethics training pursuant to s . 11 2 . 31 42 must certify on his or 

277 her full and publi c disclosure o f financial interests that he or 

278 she has completed the required training. Additi onall y , beginning 

279 January 1 , 2018 , an officer o r a member who is required to 

280 complete an nual e thics train ing pursuant t o s . 112 . 31 42 must 

281 prov i de the name of the training provider on his or her full and 

282 public disclosure of financial interests . 

283 (2) An o ffi cer or a member person who i s required, 

284 pursuant to s. 8 , Art. II of the State Constitution , to f ile a 

285 full and public disclosure of financial interests and who has 

286 filed a full and public disclosure o f financial interests f or 

287 any calendar or fiscal year is shall not be required to file a 

288 statement of financial interests pursuant t o s . 112 . 314 5 (2) and 

289 (3) for the same year or f or any part there of notwithstanding 

290 any requirement o f this part . If an inc umbent in an elective 

291 off i ce has fil ed the full and public disclosure of financ ial 

292 interests t o qualify for elect ion to the same office or if a 

293 candidate f or office holds another office subject to the annual 

29 4 filing requirement , the qualifying officer shall f o rward an 

295 electronic copy of the full and publ ic dis closure o f financial 

296 interest s to the commiss i on n o l a ter than July 1 . The electron i c 

297 copy o f the full and public disclosure of financial interests 

298 satis fies the annual disclosure requirement o f this sect i on . A 

299 cand idate who does not qualify until af ter the annual full and 

300 public disclosure of financial interests has been filed pursuant 

Page 12 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021 -00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7021 2017 

301 to this section shall file a copy of his o r her disclosure with 

302 the officer before whom he or she qualifies . 

303 (8) 

30 4 (c) For purposes of this section , an error or omission is 

305 immaterial , inconsequential , or de minimis if the or iginal 

306 filing provided sufficient information for the public to 

307 identify potential conflicts of interest . However , failure to 

308 certify completion of annual ethics training required under s . 

309 112 . 3142 or provide the name of the training provider does not 

310 const itut e an immaterial , inconsequential , or de minimis error 

311 or omission . 

312 Section 6 . Subsection (4) and paragraph (c) of subsection 

313 (10) of section 112.3145 , Florida Statutes , are amended to read: 

314 112 . 3145 Disclosure of financial interests and cl ients 

315 represented before agencies.-

316 (4) Beginning January 1 , 2015 , an officer who is required 

317 to complete annual ethics training pursuant to s. 112 . 3142 must 

318 certify on his or her statement of financial interests that he 

319 or she has completed the requi red training . Additionally , 

320 beginning January 1 , 2018 , an officer or a member who is 

321 required to complete annual ethics training pursuant to s . 

322 112 . 3142 must provide the name of the training provider on his 

323 or her statement of financial interests . 

324 

325 

(10) 

(c) For purposes of this section , an error or omission is 

Page 13 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7021 

326 immaterial , inconsequential , o r de minimis if the orig inal 

327 filing provided sufficient information for the public to 

328 identify potential conflicts o f interest . However , failure to 

329 certify completion of annual ethics training required under s . 

330 112 . 3142 or provide the name of the training provider does not 

331 constitute an immaterial , inconsequent ial , or de minimis error 

332 or omission. 

333 Section 7 . The amendments made toss . 112 . 3144 and 

334 112 . 3145 , Fl or ida Statutes , by this act apply to disclosures 

335 filed for the 2017 calendar year and all subsequent calendar 

336 years . 

337 Section 8 . Subsection (1) of section 112 . 31455 , Florida 

338 Statutes , is amended to read : 

339 112 . 31455 Collection methods for unpaid automatic fines 

2017 

340 for failure to timely file disclosure of financial interests . -

341 (1) Before referring any unpaid fine accrued pursuant t o 

342 s . 112 . 3144(5) or s . 112 . 3145(7) to the Department o f Financial 

343 Services , the commission shall attempt to determine whether the 

344 individual owing such a f i ne is a current public officer or 

345 current public employee . If so , the commission may notify the 

346 Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of the appropriate 

347 county , municipality , school district , or special district of 

348 the total amount of any fine owed to the commission by such 

349 indivi dual . 

350 (a) After receipt and verification of the notice from the 

Page 14 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7021 2017 

351 commission , the Chief Financia l Officer or the govern ing body of 

35 2 the county, municipality , school district , or special distri ct 

353 shall begin withholding the lesser of 10 percent or the maximum 

354 amount allowed under federal law from any sa lary- related 

355 payment . The withheld payments sha ll be remitted to the 

356 commission until the fine is satisfied . 

357 

358 

359 

360 

361 

362 

363 

364 

36 5 

366 

367 

368 

369 

370 

371 

372 

373 

(b) The Chief Financial Officer or the govern i ng body of 

the county , municipality , schoo l d istr ict , or special district 

may retain an amount of each withhe l d payment , as provided in s. 

77 . 0305 , to cove r the administrative costs incurred under this 

section . 

Section 9 . Ef fective Oc tober 1 , 2018 , section 112 . 3261 , 

Florida Statutes , is repealed . 

Sect i on 10 . Section 112 . 32612 , Flor i da Statutes , is 

crea t ed to read: 

112.32612 Lobbying before governmental entities . 

(1) As used in this section, the term : 

(a) "Governmenta l entity" or " entit y " means a water 

management distri ct created in s . 373. 069 and operating under 

the authority of chapte r 373 , a hosp ital district , a ch ildren 's 

services distr ict, an expressway author i ty as the term 

"authority " is defined in s. 348 . 0002 , a port authorit y as 

defined in s . 315. 02 , a county , a munic ipali ty , a school 

374 dis trict, or a special dis trict. 

375 (b) "Lobbie s, " " Lobby ," or " Lobbying " means seeking , on 

Page 15 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7021 201 7 

376 

377 

378 

379 

380 

381 

382 

383 

384 

385 

386 

387 

388 

389 

390 

behalf of another person , to influence a governmental entity 

with respect to a decision of the entity in an area of policy or 

procurement or an attempt to obtain the goodwill of an official 

or employee of a governmental ent i ty. The term does not include 

making application for or seeking approval of an application for 

a license , permit , or waiver of a regulation so long as the 

i ssuance or granting of such application does not require 

l eg i slative discretion . 

(c) " Lobbyist " means a person who is employed and receives 

payment , or who contracts for economic consideration , for the 

purpose of lobbying , or a person who i s p r incipally employed for 

governmental affairs by another person or governmental entity to 

lobby on behalf of such person or governmental entity . The term 

does not include a pe rson who : 

1. Represents a client in a judicial proceeding or in a 

391 formal admi nistrative proceeding before a governmental entity . 

392 2 . Is an employee of a n agency or of a legislative or 

393 judicial branch entity acting in the normal course of his or her 

394 

395 

duties . 

3 . Is a confidential informant who is providing , or wishes 

396 to provide , conf i dential information to be used for law 

397 enforcement purposes . 

398 4 . Lobbies to procure a contract which is less than 

399 $20 , 000 or a contract pursuant s. 287.056 . 

400 (d) " Principa l" has the same meaning as in s . 112.3215 . 

Page 16 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7021 

401 (2) Beginning October 1 , 2018 , a person may not lobby a 

402 governmental entity until such person has electronically 

403 registered as a lobbyist with the commission in the local 

404 government lobby i st reg i stration system . Such initial 

2017 

405 registration shall be due upon being retained to lobby and may 

406 be renewed thereafter o n a calendar - year basis . After in i tial 

407 registration , the lobby i st shall provide a statement signed by 

408 the principal or the principal ' s representative stating that he 

409 or she is authorized to represent the principal and designating 

410 the principal ' s main type of business pursuant to a 

411 classification system approved by the commission . Any changes to 

412 the information required by this subsection must be disclosed 

413 within 15 days by the lobbyist updating his or her reg i stration . 

414 A person required to register as a lobbyist under this 

415 subsection must register through the electronic system and 

416 disclose in his or her r egistration : 

417 

418 

(a) Name , ema il address , and business address . 

(b) Name and business address of each pr i ncipa l. 

419 (c) Name of each governmental entity lobbied or i n t ended 

420 to be lobbied on beha l f of the principal. 

421 (d) Any direct or indirect business association , 

422 partnership , or financial relationship with an official or 

423 employee of a governmental entity lobbied or intended to be 

424 lobbied on behalf of the principal . 

425 (3) The annual lobbyist registration fee shall be 

Page 17 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7021 2017 

426 established by the commi ss i on by rule and may not exceed $40 for 

427 each principal represen t ed . 

428 (4) The commiss i on shall publish a lobbyist directo r y of 

429 all lobbyist registrations on its website . 

430 (5 ) A lobbyist shall promptly provide a wri tten statement 

431 to the commi ssion canceling the designation of a principa l i n 

432 his o r her registration upon termination of such representation . 

433 The commission may can ce l a lobbyist ' s designation of a 

434 principal upon the pr inc i pal ' s notification that the lobby i st is 

435 no longer authorized to represent the principal . 

436 (6) A governmental e nti ty must ascertain whether a 

437 lobbyist has reg i stered pursuant to this section . A governmen tal 

438 entity may not knowing ly authorize an unregistered lobbyist to 

439 lobby the entity . 

440 (7) (a) Upon a first complaint to the commission alleg ing a 

441 violat i on o f subsect i on (2) aga inst a lobbyist , or upon any 

44 2 complai nt against a lobbyist received before January 1 , 2020 , 

443 the commission shall , within 30 days after receipt of the 

444 complaint , issue a wa rning letter to the lobbyist direct ing him 

445 or her to consult the obligations of lobbyists under this 

446 section and then dismi ss the complaint . 

447 (b) On or after Ja nuary 1 , 2020 , notwithstanding the c i vil 

448 penalties ins . 112 . 31 7 , a lobbyist found by the commission to 

449 have v i olated subsection (2) is subject to: 

450 1 . For a first v i o l ation , a civi l penalty not to exceed 

Page 18 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7021 201 7 

451 $500 . 

452 2 . For a second or subsequent violation committed within 

453 12 months after the commission determines that a first violation 

454 has been committed , a civil penalty of at least $200 but not 

455 more than $1000 or a 1-year suspension from lobbying any 

456 governmental entity associated with the violation . A 

457 governmental entity may impose add itional civil penalties not to 

458 exceed $500 per violation , and , notwithstanding paragraph (c) , 

459 may suspend the lobbyist from lobbying on its behalf for up to 2 

4 60 years . 

461 (c) The civ i l penalties and suspensions provided in this 

462 subsection shall be applied on a per principal basis with 

463 suspensions affecting only those principals for whom 

464 unregistered lobbying occurred . 

465 (8) By January 1 , 2018 , a governmental e n tity's governing 

466 body , or the entity ' s designee, shall notify the commission of 

467 any o rdinance or rule that imposes additional or more stringent 

468 obligations with respect to lobbyist registration , reporting , or 

469 other conduc t , and shal l forward to the commiss ion a copy of any 

470 associated form that has been established to facilitate 

471 compliance with such ordinance or rule. Beginning January 1, 

472 2019 , a governmental entity shall conform its registration 

473 system, if any , to accommodate regular digital distr i bution of 

474 registration data from the commission so that initial 

475 registration of a lobbyist pursuant to subsection (2) is 

Page 19 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 7021 2017 

476 accomplished without having to supply the lobbyist and principal 

477 information to more than one registration system. The commission 

478 shall cooperate to the extent reasonably practicable to assure 

479 such coordination of information . 

480 

481 

482 

483 

484 

485 

486 

487 

488 

489 

4 90 

491 

492 

493 

4 94 

495 

496 

497 

498 

499 

500 

( 9) The commission may adopt rules to establish procedures 

to govern the local gove r nment lobbyist registration system , 

including the adoption o f forms, exchange of information wi th 

local governmenta l entities , and establishment of an annual 

lobbyist registration fee . 

(10 ) A person , when in doubt about the applicability and 

interpretation of this section , may submit in writing to the 

commission the facts of the situation with a request for an 

advisory opinion to establish a standard o f duty . An advisory 

opinion shall be rendered by the commissi o n and, until amended 

or revoked , is binding on the conduct of the person who sought 

the opinion , unless material facts were omitted or misstated in 

the request . 

Section 11 . As prov i ded ins . 112 . 322 ( 3 ) , Florida 

Statutes , the Commission on Ethics shall render advisory 

opinions to any public off i cer , candidate for public office , or 

public employee regarding the application of part III of chapter 

112 , Florida Statutes , including sections 1 through 9 of t h is 

act . 

Section 12. The Legislature finds that a proper and 

legitimate state purpose is served when mechanisms are 

Page 20 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 7021 

501 established to secure and sustain the public ' s trust in public 

502 officers. Therefore , the Legislature determines and declares 

503 that this act fulfills an important state interest. 

201 7 

504 Section 13. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 

505 act , this act shall take effect July 1 , 2017 . 

Page 21 of 21 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7021-00 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 7023 PCB PIE 17-04 Trust Funds/Creation/Local Government Lobbyist Registration 
Trust Fund 
SPONSOR(S): Public Integrity & Ethics Committee, Yarborough 
TIED BILLS: HB 7021 IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION 

Orig. Comm .: Public Integrity & Ethics Committee 18 Y, 0 N 

ANALYST 

Kiner 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Rubottom 

1) Appropriations Committee Delaney ~ '1\CJ Leznoff 

2) Government Accountability Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

The bill creates the Local Government Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund within the Commission on Ethics. The 
trust fund 's purpose is to administer the Local Government Lobbyist Registration System, with annual 
reg istration fees collected to fund the administration of the program, including the payment of salaries and 
expenses. 

Pursuant to the Florida Constitution, the trust fund shall be terminated on July 1, 2021 , unless terminated 
sooner. Prior to its termination , the trust fund must be reviewed as provided ins. 215.3206(1) and (2), F.S. 

This bill has no fiscal impact. 

The bill becomes effective on the same date as HB 7021, relating to Local Government Ethics Reform, or 
similar legislation, is adopted in the same legislative session or an extension thereof and becomes law. 

A bill proposing to create a trust fund must be passed by three-fifths of the membership of each house 
of the Legislature. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h7023.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Present Situation 

Trust Fund Creation and Termination 

Article Ill , s. 19(f)( 1) of the Florida Constitution requires a trust fund of the State of Florida or other 
public body be created or re-created by law in a separate bill. The bill creating or re-creating the trust 
fund must pass with a three-fifths vote of the membership of each house of the legislature. 

Article Ill , s. 19(f)(2) of the Florida Constitution requires trust funds to terminate not more than four 
years after the effective date of the act authorizing the initial creation of the trust fund. By law, the 
legislature may set a shorter time period for which any trust fund is authorized. However, Article Ill , s. 
19(f)(3) of the Florida Constitution provides various exceptions to the four-year termination requirement 
for various types of trust funds. Among the exceptions are trust funds that serve as clearing funds or 
accounts for the chief financial officer or state agencies, and trust funds that account for assets held by 
the state in a trustee capacity as an agent or fiduciary for individuals, private organizations, or other 
governmental units. 

State Lobbyist Registration Systems 

Florida law requires a person who wishes to lobby the executive branch to register as a lobbyist with 
the Commission on Ethics. 1 Similarly, the Florida Legislature, by rule , requires a lobbyist who wishes to 
lobby either house of the legislature to register with the Lobbyist Registration Office in the Office of 
Legislative Services. 2 In addition to these registration requirements , lobbying firms must file quarterly 
compensation reports for each quarter in which at least one of their lobbyists were registered to 
represent a principal.3 

As of February 2017, there were over 1,300 lobbyists registered to lobby the executive branch on 
behalf of over 3,300 principals, representing over 8,900 total registrations. 4 As of February 2017, there 
were over 1 ,800 lobbyists registered to lobby the legislature on behalf of over 3,600 principals, 
representing over 10,000 total registrations. 5 In total , there were over 150 lobbyists registered to lobby 
only the executive branch, over 600 registered to lobby only the legislature, and over 1,200 registered 
to lobby both the executive branch and the legislature.6 Currently, the executive branch has 1.5 FTEs 
to administer registrations, including oath authorization, and compensation reports. The legislature has 
2 FTEs to administer registrations and compensation reports . 

Each lobbyist registration program has a dedicated trust fund whereby registration fees must be used 
to administer the program. The executive branch lobbyist registration fee is $25 per principal , although 
by statute, the fee may be up to $40 per principal. 7 The legislature's annual lobbyist registration fee is 
$50 for the first registration and $20 for each additional registration. If a lobbyist is registering before 
only one chamber, the annual fee is $25 for the first registration and $10 for each additional 
reg istration . As of February 2017, the Executive Branch Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund had 

I S. 11 2.32 15, F.S. 
2 Joint Rule 1.1 (I ) 
3 SS. 11.045(3)(a) l. and 112.32 15(5)(a) I. , F.S. 
4 See statistics on registered lobbyists on the Florida Lobbyist Registration & Compensation website at www.floridalobbyist.gov (last 
viewed 2/24/201 7). 
5 Id. 
6 Id. 
7 Rule 34-1 2.200, F.A.C., implementing s. 112.3215(4), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h7023.APC.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 3/6/2017 



$1 ,135,123 cash on hand , while the Legislative Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund had $1 ,379,440 cash 
on hand. 

Executive Branch Lobbyist Registra tio n T rust Fund 
FY 06- FY 07- FY 08-09 FY 09- 10 FY 10- 11 FY I I- 12 FY I2- 13 FY 13- 14 FY 14- 15 FY 15- 16 
07 08 

Beginning Cash 595,084 63 1,757 733 ,949 833,08 1 90 I ,796 944,303 I ,002,123 I ,052,5 16 I ,060,646 967,265 
Balance 
Revenues Collected 182,600 20 1,525 20 I ,025 189,515 194,175 205 ,025 20 1,825 230,530 26 1,830 254,250 
Disbursements 145,927 99,333 10 1,893 120,800 15 1,668 147,206 151,432 222 ,400 355 ,2 10 2 16,183 
Excess (Deficiency) 36,673 102,192 99,132 68,715 42,507 57,8 19 50,393 8,130 (93 ,380) 38 ,067 
of Revenue over 
Disbursements 
End ing Cash 63 1,757 733 ,949 833 ,08 1 90 1,796 944,303 I ,002 ,123 I ,052 ,516 I ,060,646 967,265 I ,005,333 
Balance 

Legisla tive Branch Lobbyist Re! istration T rust Fund 
FY 06- FY 07- FY 08-09 FY 09-10 FY 10- 11 FYI I-1 2 FYI 2-1 3 FY 13- 14 FY 14- 15 FY 15- 16 
07 08 

Beginning Cash 792 ,074 797,934 838,507 889,603 936,720 993,658 I ,117,279 I ,230,248 I ,270,080 I ,230,775 
Balance 
Revenues Collected 254,137 252,435 256,746 245,680 246,545 260,580 247,845 265 ,830 278,600 283 ,355 
Disbursements 248,277 2 11,862 205,650 198,563 189,606 136,959 134,877 225,998 3 17,905 223 ,197 
Excess (Defic iency) 5,860 40,573 5 1,096 47,117 56,938 123 ,62 1 11 2,968 39,832 (39,305) 60,158 
of Revenue over 
Disbursements 
Ending Cash 797,934 838,507 889,603 936,720 993 ,658 1, 11 7,279 I ,230,248 I ,270,080 I ,230,775 I ,290,933 
Balance 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill creates the Local Government Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund within the Commission on 
Ethics. The trust fund 's purpose is to fund the administration of the local government lobbyist 
registration program , including the payment of salaries and other expenses . 

The bill requires the trust fund to be reviewed as provided in s. 215.3206 (1) and (2), F.S. These 
provisions of law would require the Commission on Ethics to review the trust fund and recommend to 
the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives whether the trust fund 
should be allowed to terminate or should be re-created. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1 creates s. 112.32613, F.S., relating to the creation of the Local Government Lobbyist 
Registration Trust Fund. 

Section 2 provides an effective date. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h7023.APC.DOCX 
DATE: 3/6/2017 

PAGE: 3 



2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

None. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision : 

Not applicable. 

2. Other: 

Article Ill , s. 19(f)( 1) of the Florida Constitution requires a trust fund of the State of Florida or other 
public body be created or re-created by law in a separate bill. The bill creating or re-creating the trust 
fund must pass with a three-fifths vote of the membership of each house of the legislature. 

Article Ill, s. 19(f)(2) requires trust funds to terminate not more than four years after the effective date 
of the act authorizing the initial creation of the trust fund . By law, the legislature may set a shorter 
time period for which any trust fund is authorized. However, Article Ill , s. 19(f)(3) of the Florida 
Constitution provides various exceptions to the four-year termination requirement for various types of 
trust funds. Among the exceptions are trust funds that serve as clearing funds or accounts for the 
chief financial officer or state agencies, and trust funds that account for assets held by the state in a 
trustee capacity as an agent or fiduciary for individuals, private organizations, or other governmental 
units. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

None. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

Before its scheduled termination , the bill requires the Local Government Lobbyist Registration Trust 
Fund to be reviewed as provided ins. 215.3206(1) and (2), F.S. However, such review may not be 
necessary. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h7023.APC.DOCX 
DATE : 3/6/2017 

PAGE : 4 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7023 201 7 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to trust funds ; creating s. 112 . 32613 , 

3 F.S .; creating the Local Government Lobbyist 

4 Registration Trust Fund within the Commission on 

5 Ethics; provid i ng f or the purpose of the trust fund 

6 and sources of funds ; providing for the future 

7 legislative review and termination or re - creation of 

8 the trust fund ; providing a contingent effective date . 

9 

10 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Fl orida : 

11 

12 Section 1 . Section 112 . 32613 , Florida Statutes , is created 

13 to read : 

14 112 . 32613 Local Government Lobbyist Registration Trust 

15 Fund . -

16 (1) The Local Governme n t Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund 

17 is created within the Commi ssion on Ethics to fund any off i ce , 

18 including the payment o f salar i es and other expenses , 

19 established to administer the local government lobbyist 

20 registration system in s . 112 . 32612 . The trust fund i s not 

21 subject to any service charges under chapter 215 . Annual 

22 lobbyist registration fees collected pursuant to s. 112 . 32612 

23 s ha ll be deposited into the trust fund . 

24 (2) I n accordance with s . 19 (f) (2) , Art. III of the State 

25 Const itut i on , the trust fund shall , unless terminated sooner , be 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7023-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 7023 

26 terminated on July 1 , 2021 . Before its scheduled termination , 

27 the trust fund shall be reviewed as provided ins . 215 . 3206(1) 

28 and (2) . 

29 Section 2 . This act shall take effect on t he same date 

30 that HB 7021 or simila r legislation takes effect , if such 

31 legislation is adopted in the same legislative session o r an 

32 extension thereof and becomes a law , and only if this act is 

33 enacted by a three - fifths vote o f the membership of each house 

34 of the Legislature . 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2017 

hb7023-00 



ITI a.., c ..., 
n tD 
Ql VI 
r-t' t!) 

-· :::::1 0 r-t' 
:::::1 Ql 
"'T'I !:!". 
c 0 
:::::1 :::::1 

9:0 
:::::1 :::::1 

UQ:::I: 
~=~' ua· 
o=r 
VIti) 
0..., 
VI 



Higher Education Fundihg 
& .. •. 

Direct Suppo,rt Organizations 

House Appropriations Committee 
Representative Trujillo, Chair 

March 8, 2017 

1 



80.0 

70.0 

60.0 

50.0 

40.0 

30.0 

20.0 

10.0 

: 

58.5 

40.0 

., 

.!:';.. 
<oa 

~0.> 

State Operating Budget History 

.; .•: 

' '· 

•: 

. :~8.9 
56.5 --.- 53.0 ... 

> 

.. 
. , , . - ---. . ., 

38.4 

. , 
.. 

'· 

.!:';,. 
<oo 

:.>'019 

35.5 

. 

.!:';.. 
<oa 

<9'0..9 

--33.7 

. ; •. 

.!:';.. 
<oa 

:9'./o 

61.1 
...... 

-
36.8 

.. 

.!:';,. 
<o-l 

0'.1./ 

59.9 

-
38.0 

.!:';.. 
<o./ 

"'.!< 

., 

: 

60.0 -
: 

: 

- 37.7 

.!:';.. 
<o./ 

<'.l,y 

62.0 

39.4 

,, ., 

.!:';.. 
<o./ 

,y'./<7 

: 

. ·"'· 

64.3 

41.2 

.. 

.!:';,. 
<o-l 

<7'-l.s 

-+-Total State Operating Funds ..,._General Revenue & State Trust Funds 

.....------. 68.7 
66.0 

41.6 

. 

. 

.!:';.. 
<o./ 

.s'./6' 

43.6 _. 

, 

: 

"":'" . 

• . 

~ 

.!:';.. 
<o-l 

6''.1.> 

2 



:• Budget Areas Before, During, and After Recession ,, ,, 
•: 

60.0% 

'· 

./' .. 
40.0% 

~ 
; 

Cll ,. 
...ttl!. "' 20.0% "' ~ ~~ Cll .... 

u 
Cll ,, 
c ., - .: __. ..0:: -Cll ,, ,, 

·~ ;~ .: ~ ~ --"' ··-~ 

"' 0.0% Cll _.__ 
·= .... 

'-
u 

~ ---7' 
.= ., -c: 
Cll ·: u .... -20.0% Cll 

~~~ 
a. 

' ..::.t' 

•: -40.0% 
" .. 
~/ ·= 

>: .. 
-60.0% 

FY 2007-08 FY 2009-10 FY 2016-17 

-+-Higher Education 2.6% -3.6% 18.5% 

--PreK-12 Education -1.2% 2.9% 11.0% 

-.-Full Appropriations -1.8% -49.1% -48.0% . . .. .... . . .. 
~Government Operations -40.8% -44.1% -36.7% 

~Health Care 0.7% 14.8% 44.8% .. 
-4-Justice 4.4% 10.2% 5.4% 

-+-Agriculture and Natural Resources -27.0% .•. -51.9% -8.3% 
;;· .. :..:~ 

- Transportation & Economic Development -8.8% -29.1% -7.3% .. 

3 



Ill 
c 
.~ 6.0 

iii 

~" <oa 
~'0.> 

SUS State Funding and; SUS Operating Budgets Compared 

~" <oo 
:.>'00' 

~" <oa 
(5>'09 

~" <oa 
:s>'.lo 

~" 
<o-~. 

0'-1.; 

~" <o.; 
../'.!< 

~" <o.; 
<'.!_,., 

~" <o.; 
a'.!~ 

~" <o-l 
~'.ls 

• Operating Budgets (Less State Funding) • State Funding 

~" <o.; 
s'-16' 

~" 
<o-~. 

6''-1.> 

4 



. !; 
.. 
~ ., 

cu ' .. 
:::s 

.~ 
"C 
c f:..~+ cu 
Q, 
)( 

Ll.l 
b.O 
c .. ,, 
~ 

"' .. 
cu 
Q, 

0 .. 
iii ..., 
0 
1-

. :~ .. 
:.; 

·~~ ~ 

• . 

•. 

10 Years Actual Expenditures- Larger Universities 
(dollars Jn. millions) 

9,000.0 

8,000.0 

7,000.0 

6,000.0 

5,000.0 

4,000.0 

3,000.0 

2,000.0 



10 Years Actual: Expenditures - Smaller Universities 
(dollars in millions) 

2,000.0 

1,800.0 

1,600.0 

Ill 1,400.0 Q) ... 
:::s 
~ 1,200.0 "C 
c: 
Q) 
c.. 1,000.0 )( 

Ll.l 

tiO 
c: 
'+' 

800.0 

IU ... 
Q) 600.0 c.. :.: 

0 
IU 400.0 ... 
{:. 

200.0 

0.0 
FY 2005- FY 2006- FY 2007- FY 2008- FY 2009- FY 2010- FY 2011- FY 2012-

06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 

• FLORIDA POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY 0.0 4.9 

• NEW COLLEGE OF FLORIDA 26.0 26.7 31.5 31.1 31 .6 33.3 32.1 33.9 

• FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY 97.8 114.4 122.0 131.3 139.5 157.6 169.0 170.9 

• UNIVERSITY OF NORTH FLORIDA 171.4 189.6 198.4 199.7 212.3 229.6 229.8 239.3 

• UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA 151.1 161.7 165.3 159.5 185.4 197.5 201.3 236.0 

• FLORIDA ATLANTIC UNIVERSITY 420.3 439.7 455.9 481.2 507.3 553.3 556.0 587.3 

• FLORIDA A&M UNIVERSITY 325 .2 271.8 271.5 285.8 295.4 312.9 287.4 290.4 

FY 2013- FY 2014- FY 20 

14 15 16 

13.5 31.2 34.0 

34.9 40.1 38.9 

181.0 204.3 206.5 

249.4 272.0 268.1 

247.9 279.1 288.2 

591.3 605.5 634.8 

302.1 310.1 308.5 

6 



SUS Fund Balance History 

(excluding 5% reserve, State app.ropriations only) 
s 1,000,000,000 

$900,000,000 

$800,000,000 

$700,000,000 

$600,000,000 

$500,000,000 

$400,000,000 

$300,000,000 

$200,000,000 

$100,000,000 

$-
~r 

-.>oo 
:..><, 

Oo<9 

~r 
<oa 

~<, 
Oo..9 

~r 
<oo. 

:9<, 
o-lo 

~r 
<o-l 

0<, 
0-1./ 

$931.6 

~r 
<o-1 

./<, 
o-1< 

*Nonrecurring base reduction of $300,000,000 in FY 2012-13. 

~r 

<o-1 
<<, 

0-l.,y* 

~r 
<o-1 

..,.,"<, 
0-~~ 

~r 

<o-l 
~<, 

o-ls 

~r 
<o-1 

s<
o-16' 

~r 
<o-l 

6'<, 
0-1.> 

7 



8 



cu 
Ill 

20.0% 

15.0% 

~10.0% 
~ 
u cu c 

"GJ 
Ill 5.0% 
nl cu 
~ 

u 
c 

~ 0.0% 
cu 
u 
~ cu 

Q. 

-5.0% 

-10.0% 

-15.0% 
I 

/:';-
~oo.> 

'Od> 

Base year is FV 2006-07 

-10.9% 

.1:';-
~oo 

C9'o. 
::9 

Cumulative Growth in Education Budgets 

18.4% 

11.0% 

.1:';- .1:';- .1:';- /:';- /:';- .1:';- .1:';- .1:';-
~Oo. ~0-l ~0 ~0 ~O.z ~0-l ~O.z ~0 

::9'./o o.._, "'.z.._,~ "'~..,-Y '-Y'.l. ~..,.s .s.._,6' "'6'.._,.> 
./ ~ 

-+-Higher Education ...... Pre K-12 Education 

9 



4,500 

4,000 

3,500 

3,000 
Ill 
c 
0 = 2,500 ·-
~ 

2,000 

1,500 

1,000 

500 

.-
3 310 

1,379 

-
.... 

1,188 

~f-

<oa 
iS''O..> 

., •' 

_..... .__ 
3,411 

1,405 

liiiil -..... 
1,218 

~f-

<oo 
:>'Oc9 

Higher Education State FuncUng History 

f: 1 

3,264 

; 

1,225 

1,057 

~f-
<oQ 

(51'0,9 

.. 

--- 3,205 

,, 

.. 

1,123 -
-,.. 

968 

~f-

<oa 
~'.lo 

.. 

~ 

3,426 

.. 

1,047 

1,037 

~f-

<o-1. 
0'.1.; 

-
3,439 

~ 1,327 

1,028 

~f-

<o./ 
"'./< 

~ 
/ 4,058 

-- 3,415 

., 

.. 

'• .. 
: 

1,066 1,119 1,147 

1,059 1,059 1,098 

----- ---- --- --- ------ ----- ·-

~f-

<o./ 
<'.Ia 

~f-

<o./ 
a'.l., 

~f-

<o-1. 
"'.l.s 

-+-Colleges ~Other Higher Education ..... sus 

9 ~4,70~ 

4,491 

1,181 0 1,24( 
....... -..... 

.;. -
1,041 1,052 

-------~--~---

~f-

<o./ 
.s'./6' 

~f-

<o-1. 
6''.1..> 



70.0% 

60.0% 

50.0% 

cu 40.0% 
Ill 
IV 
cu 
'-u 30.0% cu 
c ....... 
cu 
IV 20.0% cu 
'-u 
1: ... 10.0% 1: 
cu 
u 
'-cu 

Q. 0.0% 

-10.0% 

-20.0% 

-30.0% 

Higher Education State Funding & Operating Expnditures By Growth History 

/<';. 
..:>oo 

:.>'00' 

/<';. 
..:>oa 

(S''0..9 

/<';. 
..:>oa 

~'..lo 

/<';. 
..:>o-l 

o'..l, 

/<';. 
..:>o., 

"'../,.:> 

/<';. 
..:>o., 

,.:>'../J 

/<';. 
..:>o., 

J'../9 

/<';. 
..:>o-l 

9'../.s 

-+-Colleges ~Other Education* ....... sus State Budget ~SUS Operating Expenditures 

/<';. 
..:>o., 

.s'../6' 

/<';. 
..:>o-l 

6''..1..> 



70.0% 

60.0% 

50.0% 

~ 40.0% 
Ill 
Cll ... 
u 
Cll 
0 
~ 30.0% 
"' Ill 
Cll ... 
u 
c 
-;; 20.0% 
110 
Ill .... 
c 
Cll 
~ 
~ 10.0% 

0.0% 

-10.0% 

-20.0% 

SUS Budgets and University Expenditures Compared to State Budget 

5.6% 
3.5% 

-4.1% 

~oa 
15:0.> 

~oo 
~'0~ 

~oa 
~09 

~Oo, 
(S>'.lo 

-...-statewide Operating Budget Less SUS 

~0..1. 
o'.l.., 

~o.., 
..,'../~ 

~o.., 
<'.l..y 

---sus Total Operating Expenditures 

~o.., 
'-Y'.l., 

~0..1. 
.,'.Is 

...-sus Total State Budget 

~o.., 
s'.lfi' 

~0..1. 
6''.1.> 



··: Cumulative Growth Comparison 
c. 100.0% . ... 

c. 

c. 80.0% 
cOC 

' 
Q.l 
II) 60.0% 

"' Q.l 
~ 
u 
Q.l 
c 
......... 40.0% 

Q.l 
II) 

"' Q.l 
~ 
u ,, 

20.0% c: 
+J 
c: 
Q.l 
u 
~ 0.0% Q.l 
0.. •: 

' ·:-
•: 

-20.0% 

.. 

-40.0% 
2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

....... FEFP :.: -1.4% -13.5% -9.2% -1.1% -12.0% -3.5% 5.8% 8.3% 10.4% 14.3% 

- DOT -7.6% -10.2% -28.3% -24.1% -13.9% -10.6% 3.2% 10.8% 9.9% 17.6% 

.....-universities State Budget 2.7% -6.2% -3.3% 2.7% -1.4% -2.1% 16.1% 23.4% 28.4% 34.9% 

~Medicaid 3.0% 11.4% 24.7% 33.9% 36.6% 41.6% 51.5% 56.9% 61.9% 79.8% 

~Universities Operating Expenditures 2.9% 10.3% 17.2% 25.6% 26.3% 34.0% 39.8% 47.3% 52.7% 61.3% 

13 



.... ···4··· .... . . . . .. . . 

.. Cumulative Change - Expenditures, CPI, State Revenues, and Students 
70.0% 

·= 

··: .. 
·: ' .. 

60.0% ... 
<. 

~ ,, ,. .. 
: 

50.0% ... 

•' ·, 
,. ~ / Q.l : •' .; 

Ill 

"' 40.0% Q.l : 

~ / 
... 
u 
Q.l 

0 ; -........ ,. 
_L-. -Q.l 30.0% 

_.,. .. 

Ill : 

/ ~-"' : 
Gl : ... 
u . c :. 

20.0% 
; 

I Q.l / - /:__ 
' 

QO 

~ ..:»' "' .... 
' c : / ~ i Q.l 

10.0% .. .. u ~: 
; :•: ... ,, 

~ ~ Q.l 

/ Q. •: 

' I .-
~ •. 0 .0% 

~ / i ·: .. : 
~ .; 

l. 
,. .. 

.•. ; 

! -10.0% 
- ~ .. . -- ~ c- .. - . ·-· ~ ~ 

! 
.. 

' 
.. '· ' •: ,. .. 

-20.0% 
' FY 2006-07 FY 2007-08 FY 2008-09 FY 2009-10 , FY 2010-11 FY 2011-12 FY 2012-13 FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16 

I -+-SUS State 8.7% 9.6% 7.2% 7.3% 12.5% 8.0% 21.1% 26.8% 38.2% 44.8% 

- SUS Operating Expenditures 5.6% 8.7% 16.5% 23.3% 32.6% 33.4% 41.4% 47.6% 55 .6% 61.1% 
' 
' ...-cPI 2.8% 6.8% 6.4% 8.2% 11.6% 13.9% 15.5% 17.4% 17.6% 19.1% 

~Total State Revenues -1.9% -5.5% -7.6% 7.1% 11.3% 5.2% 9.6% 12.6% 16.6% 19.4% 

_..,Total SUS Students 3.2% 5.7% 5.9% 9.2% 12.6% 14.8% 14.5% 14.0% 14.0% 15.4% 

14 




















